

Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Veterinary Student Research Thesis 2022 90 ECTS Veterinary Student Research Programme

Occurrence of quinolone resistant *Escherichia coli* in Norwegian dairy cattle

Occurrence of quinolone-resistant Escherichia coli in Norwegian dairy cattle

by Silje Mogstad Finstad

Supervisors: Ane Mohn Bjelland and Håkon Kaspersen



Department of Food Safety and Infection Biology Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Norwegian University of Life Science Ås - 2022

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this Research Track Thesis was carried out at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences at the Department for Food Safety and Infection Biology during 2017–2020. This Research Track programme was related to a project coordinated by the Norwegian Veterinary Institute named, *Quinolone resistance despite low antimicrobial usage - mechanisms and possible preventive measures*. I would like to acknowledge the participants for making this project possible. I am grateful for being admitted to the Research Track Programme which has re-opened my eyes to the playful world of science.

I would like to acknowledge all the inspiring and knowledgeable company I have had in Lindern over the years. I am grateful for the friendships I have made and the generosity and enthusiastic spirit I have encountered during my time on the second floor of Lindern. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Ane and Håkon for being patient and for providing their time and knowledge at my disposal.

I feel very lucky for all the researchers I have met from Norway and the USA which have taken part in and supported my journey through these last few years. A sincere thanks to Ane and Henning which gave me the opportunity to spend time in a parallel NOCC-project over the last few years.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family and friends. In special to my supportive parents which gave me a childhood where I grew up at a dairy farm in the synergy with biology which gave me the fascination for all creatures great and small.

Ås, February 22 Silje Mogstad Finstad

Abstract

This study aimed to obtain further understanding of the occurrence of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* (QREC) from cattle despite negligible quinolone usage in cattle treatment, to identify risk factors for QREC among Norwegian dairy cattle, and to gain more knowledge of QREC dynamics over time.

QREC occurrence was investigated according to the intensity of milk production in a cross-sectional study. In parallel with this, a longitudinal study was conducted in which QREC occurrence in cows and their calves was screened during the first three months postpartum.

QREC occurrence was more abundant in high-intensive farms. Clinically resistant QREC isolates were detected. The most abundant phenotypic multi-resistance pattern was against ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, sulfamethaxazole, trimethoprim, and tetracycline. A co-occurrence of QREC isolated from cows, calves, and the environment at the farm level was found. There was a higher within-sample prevalence of QREC in calves compared to postpartum cows. Both studies found a clonal distribution of QREC isolates within the farms. Sequence type 162 that has been isolated from other farm- and wild animals in Norway, was detected in one farms. The within-sample prevalence of QREC seemed low in terms of total *E. coli*. Repeated findings of QREC in bovine faecal material could indicate a widespread occurrence of QREC despite Norway's long-term low usage of quinolones.

Abbreviations

AMEG	Categorisation of antibiotics in the European Union
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
AMS	Automatic milking systems
ARIBA	Antimicrobial Resistance Identification by Assembly
CFU	Colony-forming unit
DF	Dilution factors
ECOFF	Epidemiologic cut-off value
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EKM	Energy-correlated milk
EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
ESVAC	The European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption
H - farms	High-intensive farms
L - farms	Low-intensive farms
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation-time of flight
MDR	Multidrug resistant
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentration
MLVA	Multiple locus variable–number tandem repeat analysis
MLST	Multi-locus sequence typing
NDHRS	Norwegian Dairy Herd Recording System
NOMRS	Norwegian official milk recording scheme
NORM/NORM-VET	Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway
OIE	World Organisation for Animal Health
PCU	Population correction unit
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
WHO	World Health Organization
QRDR	Quinolone resistance-determining region
QREC	Quinolone-resistant Escherichia coli

Table of contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
ABSTRACT	3	
1. INTRODUCTION	7	
1.1 INTRODUCTION TO THE NORWEGIAN DAIRY INDUSTRY	7	
1.2 SURVEILLANCE AND OCCURRENCE	8	
1.2.1 Norwegian surveillance programme	8	
1.2.2 Occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria isolated from cattle	9	
1.2.3 Occurrence of quinolone-resistant bacteria isolated from cattle	9	
1.3 QUINOLONES AND THEIR USAGE IN CATTLE PRODUCTION	10	
1.3.1 The antimicrobial class	10	
1.3.2 Usage of quinolones for cattle in Norway	11	
1.3.3 Usage of quinolones for food-producing animals in Europe	12	
1.4 QUINOLONE RESISTANCE MECHANISMS	14	
1.4.1 Chromosomal mutations	15	
1.4.2 Plasmid-mediated resistance	16	
1.5 OCCURRENCE AND DISSEMINATION OF QREC IN CATTLE	17	
1.5.1 Occurrence of quinolones in the farm environment	17	
1.5.2 Dynamics of quinolone resistance	18	
1.5.3 Geographical distribution of QREC occurrence	20	
1.5.4 Distribution of QREC shedding in other farm animals	21	
1.6 WEAK MUTATORS AND FARM MANAGEMENT FACTORS	22	
1.6.1 Fitness cost	22	
1.6.2 Weak mutators and SOS response	23	
1.0.3 Management variables	24	
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	27	
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	28	
3.1 STUDY DESIGN AND POPULATIONS	28	
3.1.1 Study I	28	
3.1.2 Study II	30	
3.2 CONTRIBUTIONS BY THE AUTHOR AND OTHERS	30	
3.3 SAMPLING PROCEDURE	30	
3.3.1 Faecal samples	32	
3.3.2 Environmental samples	32	
3.3.3 Determination of farm hygiene	32	
3.4 LABORATORY METHODS	33	
3.4.1 Preparation, screening, and identification of QREC	33	
3.4.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	35	
3.4.3 Preparations for gyrA sequencing	35	
3.4.4 DNA extraction for whole-genome sequencing (WGS)		
3.4.5 Library preparation and sequencing	3/	
3.4.0 Quality control and contaminant screening	38 	
3.4.7 Antimicrobial resistance gene identification and MLS1	38 20	
2.4.0 Dhylogenetic and hyle	30	
3 5 STATISTICAL METHODS	30	
	59	
4. NEOULIO	41	
4.1 STUDY 1	41	
4.1.1 Prevalence of UKEC	41	
4.1.2 Aniimicropial susceptibility testing	43	
4.1.5 Dissemination and genetic diversity of QKEC	45	
4.1.7 1 ann-level variables	40 51	
	51	

4.2.1 Prevalence of QREC	51
4.2.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	53
4.2.3 Dissemination and genetic diversity of QREC	54
5. DISCUSSION	56
5.1 Prevalence of QREC	56
5.2 FARM INTENSITY	56
5.3 MANAGEMENT FACTORS	57
5.4 PERIODICAL AND COINCIDING OCCURRENCES OF QREC	58
5.5 WITHIN-FARM TRANSMISSION	60
5.6 FARM ENVIRONMENT	61
5.7 CLINICAL RESISTANCE AND A <i>ONE HEALTH</i> PERSPECTIVE	62
5.8 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	63
5.8.1 Study design	63
5.8.2 Sampling procedure and susceptibility testing	64
5.9 GENERALIZABILITY	65
6. CONCLUSIONS	66
7. FURTHER PERSPECTIVES	67
8. POPULÆRVITENSKAPELIG OPPSUMMERING	69
REFERENCES	71
APPENDIX I - QUESTIONNAIRE	77

1. Introduction

1.1 Introduction to the Norwegian dairy industry

Norwegian dairy herds are small in the European context. Nevertheless, the production units have changed to larger ones with the increasing use of automatic milking systems (AMS). From 2000 to 2018, the number of cows in Norwegian dairy herds doubled on average from 14 to 28, and milk per cow per year increased from 6,200 kg to 7,987 kg (Vik et al., 2019, Nørstebø, 2019).

A cattle population spread out over a large geographic area containing challenging topography has been proven advantageous in avoiding infections and handling national eradication programs. Norwegian eradication programmes have been successful against infectious diseases such as bovine tuberculosis, ringworm, brucellosis, and bovine viral diarrhoea. The active approach to controlling infectious diseases and the benefit provided by geographical distance could potentially have contributed to reducing the transmission of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. There is a restricted sale of live animals and a trend to raise calves and recruit heifers individually at each farm. All entrances to the farms require sluice gates. As mandated by national regulations, there are also separate entrances for farmers, visitors, and deliveries (Dyrehelseforskriften, 2002). Additionally, there is a financial benefit for farmers with an operative contingency plan to prevent infectious diseases (Matmerk, 2018). With the absence of several serious diseases, the Norwegian dairy cattle population is in good health overall.

Norway has some of the lowest therapeutic antimicrobial use in animal food production (ESVAC, 2021), and antimicrobial growth promoters have never been used for cattle production in Norway (Grave et al., 2006). The Norwegian Medicine Agency has published therapy recommendations for the treatment of farm animals as part of a project sponsored by the Ministry of Health and Care Services. The recommendations mainly advise the use of small-spectrum antibiotics, predominantly penicillin. The recommendations correspond well to the yearly published report of antimicrobial usage, which states that penicillin continues to be the most-sold antibacterial class (NORM-VET 2020, Figure 1.1). With its low

antimicrobial use, Norwegian dairy production provides a unique platform for building basic knowledge and gaining insight into alternative mechanisms behind the development and spread of antimicrobial resistance.



Figure 1.1 Prescribing patterns, in kg active substance, of antibacterial veterinary medicinal products for cattle in Norway in 2020. Penicillin remains the most-sold antibacterial class, whereas quinolone represents 0.2% of the total sales of antimicrobials for cattle. Data were obtained from the Veterinary Prescription Register. *In combination with trimethoprim only; ** Fluoroquinolones only (NORM-VET, 2020)

1.2 Surveillance and occurrence

1.2.1 Norwegian surveillance programme

Surveillance of antibiotic resistance and the use of antimicrobials is documented in the yearly published national report, NORM/ NORM-VET, which includes companion animals and farm animals, as well as human medicine. NORM-VET was established in 2000 as a political initiative and is now an elemental part of the national action plan on antimicrobial resistance.

E. coli and Enterococcus spp. are used as indicator bacteria for bovine faecal material in the

surveillance of antibiotic resistance. In addition, selective methods are used for the detection of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (NORM-VET, 2015, 2018) and the detection of resistance in *Streptococcus agalactiae* (NORM-VET, 2015) and *Salmonella typhimurium* (NORM-VET, 2015, 2018) in bovine faecal samples.

Commensal intestinal *E. coli* is considered a key component for surveillance programmes, and the usage of *E. coli* as an indicator bacterium is in line with the FSA's recommendation to harmonise the monitoring of food-producing animals across Europe (Aerts et al., 2019).

1.2.2 Occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria isolated from cattle

The NORM-VET report of 2019 states that 93.3% of commensal *E. coli* isolates from cattle caecal samples were susceptible to all antimicrobial classes included in the test panel, indicating low resistance among bovine intestinal *E. coli* (NORM/ NORM-VET, 2019). This is a slight decrease in sensitivity compared to the report of 2015 (95.4%) (NORM/ NORM-VET, 2015). *E. coli* resistant to sulfamethoxazole and tetracycline were most frequently observed, followed by ampicillin-resistant phenotypes (NORM/ NORM-VET, 2019). Sulfamethoxazole and tetracycline are both sold for animal use in Norway. Ampicillin, an extended-spectrum penicillin, is reserved for human use only.

1.2.3 Occurrence of quinolone-resistant bacteria isolated from cattle

Monitoring QREC from cattle has been a part of NORM-VET in 2001, 2003, 2005, 2010, 2015, 2017, and 2019. A single quinolone-resistant isolate was detected in 2001, while subsequent investigations in 2003, 2005, and 2010 did not reveal any QREC from cattle. In 2013, a more selective method for QREC isolation was introduced, which could make comparisons to previous years difficult. However, the occurrence of QREC isolated from cattle after introducing this more selective method was still low. Two isolates of QREC were detected in 2015 (0.8%) and none *E. coli* displayed any resistance to quinolones in 2017 or 2019, indicating a prevalence below 1.2%. Data obtained from the surveillance programme have been used in a study conducted by Kaspersen et al., (2018), "Occurrence of quinolone-resistant *E. coli* originating from different animal species in Norway." This recent work states that the prevalence of QREC in Norwegian cattle is less than 1% (Figure 1.2; Kaspersen et al.,

2018). From a European perspective, resistance among *E. coli* isolated from cattle in Norway is among the lowest of the countries reporting to EFSA (EFSA and ECDC, 2020).



Figure 1.2 Percent occurrence of QREC for each animal species per year. The total mean occurrence per year is represented as a black horizontal line. The size of each point represents the number of isolates for each respective animal species. Cattle are included in 2010 and 2015 and are visualised as dark blue points with a red circle (modified from Kaspersen et al., 2018).

1.3 Quinolones and their usage in cattle production

1.3.1 The antimicrobial class

Quinolones are antibiotics obtained by chemical synthesis. The first agent among the quinolones to be used clinically was nalidixic acid. This is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial class with concentration-dependent bactericidal activity (Riviere, 2018). Quinolones with a fluorine atom at the sixth position and a major ring substituent at position seven are called fluoroquinolones (Figure 1.3, Correia et al., 2017). Fluoroquinolones include well-known antibiotics such as ciprofloxacin, enrofloxacin, ofloxacin, and norfloxacin. Quinolones and

fluoroquinolones inhibit the activity of DNA gyrase and topoisomerases II and IV, enzymes that relax the supercoiling of bacterial DNA and complete cell division (Ruiz, 2003). However, non-fluorinated quinolones should not be used anymore because their antibacterial activity is far inferior to fluorinated quinolones (Naber et al., 1998).



Figure 1.3 Structure of the fluoroquinolone (left) and quinolone (right) molecules (PubChem, 2004).

The World Health Organization (WHO, 2018) deemed fluoroquinolones are critically important and, to preserve their effectiveness, should mainly be reserved for treating the severest human infections. In this thesis, *quinolone* will be used as a common term, including quinolone and fluoroquinolone, unless stated otherwise.

1.3.2 Usage of quinolones for cattle in Norway

Quinolone sales for food-producing animals in Norway are negligible (ESVAC, 2021). Of the total sales of antimicrobials, only 0.2% are quinolones explicitly used for treatment of cattle (Figure 1.1, NORM/NORM-VET, 2020), an increase of 0.1% from the previous year (NORM/NORM-VET, 2019). Baytril®, an enrofloxacin, is the only marketed quinolone for food-producing animals in Norway. Baytril® is indicated for use in cattle only after antimicrobial sensitivity tests and after absent responses to other antibiotic classes are documented (Felleskatalogen, 2020). Quinolones are not recommended for the treatment of any specific cattle diseases by the Norwegian Medicines Agency (Terapianbefalingene, 2012).

1.3.3 Usage of quinolones for food-producing animals in Europe

The European Medicines Agency (EMA) is an agency of the European Union (EU) responsible for the scientific evaluation, supervision, and monitoring of the safety of medicines for both human and veterinary medicine. The European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (ESVAC) project collects antimicrobial drugs used in animals across the EU. The ESVAC report has been published yearly since the project started in 2010. The usage of quinolones for treating food-producing animals in Europe varies highly between countries (Figure 1.5). Norway has one of the lowest usage levels among the European countries, with less than 0.01 mg of quinolones per population correction unit (PCU). The highest PCU among the European countries is found in Malta, Hungary, and Bulgaria, with 15.3 mg/PCU, 8.8 mg/PCU, and 5.7 mg/PCU, respectively. Many countries have reduced the usage of quinolones from 2010 to 2018, a trend found in Italy (from 1.7 to 2.3 mg/PCU), Lithuania (0.7 to 2.3 mg/PCU), and Portugal (5.6 to 7.6 mg/PCU). Fluoroquinolones and quinolones account for 2.5% and 0.3% of the total antimicrobial sales for food-producing animals in Europe where oral solutions are the main pharmaceutical form sold (Figure 1.4).



The European Commission requested in 2013 that all antimicrobials should be categorised by AMEG (Categorisation of Antibiotics in the European Union). Quinolones are in Category B, "for restrictive use," together with third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins and polymyxins. Category B is only for use when no alternatives from Categories C or D are clinically effective. The total sales of antimicrobials in Category B have shown a decreasing trend from 2011 to 2018, with fluoroquinolone sales decreasing by 4.2% and other quinolone sales decreasing by 74.4% (ESVAC, 2020). The variation between countries in the sale of antimicrobials should be interpreted with great care. EFSA now publishes guidelines to harmonise monitoring.





Figure 1.5 An overview of quinolone sales for food-producing animals among the European countries. Data are from the eleventh ESVAC report. Numbers are given in mg/PCU for quinolones.

1.3.4 Usage of quinolones for food-producing animals worldwide

Limited data on resistance patterns in animal pathogens or commensal bacteria is available worldwide. In 2015, the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) launched its first data collection of antimicrobial agents intended for animal use, which it has published every year since. A total of 153 countries, including OIE members and non-OIE members, are participating in the fourth round of data collection (OIE, 2020). Many members have reported the total usage from the veterinary sector, including companion animals, whereas 18 member countries have provided quantitative data for antimicrobial agents for food-producing animals. Among these countries, fluoroquinolone is the eighth most common prescribed antimicrobial class (Figure 1.6, OIE, 2020).

Thirty-five countries reported the use of antimicrobial agents for growth promotion, and among these countries, the most frequently listed antimicrobial agent was flavomycin, followed by bacitracin and tylosin (OIE, 2020). The usage of fluoroquinolones as growth promoters has been decreasing over the last few years. In 2017, two countries reported the usage of fluoroquinolones as growth promoters for farm animals. Only one country reported use in 2018 and none in the latest report of 2019 (OIE, 2020).

1.4 Quinolone resistance mechanisms

Bacteria become resistant through mutations in target genes or the horizontal transfer of genes encoding efflux pumps, degradative enzymes, alternative housekeeping enzymes, or ribosomal protection proteins. Quinolone resistance has traditionally been described as mediated by mutations in genes coding for quinolone targets: DNA gyrase and the topoisomerases (Redgrave et al., 2014). Chromosomal resistance is more stable than plasmid-mediated resistance and is likely to persist even if selective pressure is withdrawn (Strahilevitz et al., 2009). Plasmid-mediated fluoroquinolone resistance (PMQR) associated with *qnr* genes was first detected in 1994 (Robicsek et al., 2006). PMQR genes are often located on transferable plasmids and are co-transmitted with other important resistance genes (Wasyl et al., 2013). PMQR genes can be transferred between bacterial species at higher frequencies than chromosomal mutations can, making their spread much faster (Kao et al., 2016). There is a worldwide emergence of PMQR due to plasmid mobility (Robicsek et al., 2006). In recent years, quinolone resistance in Gram-negative bacteria has been on the rise worldwide, particularly in *E. coli* (Robicsek et al., 2006).





1.4.1 Chromosomal mutations

In Gram-negative bacteria, point mutations located in the quinolone resistance-determining region (QRDR) are the most frequent cause of quinolone resistance (Figure 1.7 (a)). QRDR consists of clustered genes that encode for subunits of the enzymes DNA gyrase (*gyrA* and *gyrB*) and topoisomerase IV (*parC* and *parE*). Mutations make these enzymes less sensitive to inhibition by quinolones. Mainly the *gyrA* gene and its homologous region in the *parC* gene are affected. Mutations in the *gyrB* and *parE* genes appear to be of minor importance and are rare contributors to quinolone resistance (Yang et al., 2004, Feng et al., 2019)

Highly quinolone-resistant *E. coli* are reported to be associated with four mutations in QRDR. Point mutations appear to repeatedly occur in the *gyrA* gene and the *parC* gene, resulting in substitutions of the amino acids Ser83 and Asp87 in the DNA gyrase and Ser80 in the topoisomerase IV (Jurado et al., 2008, Suk-Kyung et al., 2010).

1.4.2 Plasmid-mediated resistance

Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance (PMQR) is associated with low-level quinolone resistance that by itself does not exceed the clinical threshold for susceptibility but facilitates the selection of higher-level resistance (Robicsek et al., 2006, Jacoby et al., 2014).

Three groups of PMQR have been found in isolates from cattle globally (Aguilar-Montes de Oca et al., 2015, Awosile et al., 2018, Tamang et al., 2012, Thu Hang et al., 2019, Yang et al., 2018).

Plasmids carrying *Qnr* genes, which code for a pentapeptide repeat family of proteins, protect DNA gyrase from the attachment of quinolones (Figure 1.7 (d)). Additionally, the presence of genes that code for efflux pumps and a protein that modifies and inhibits the activity of ciprofloxacin have been found. The modifying enzyme, AAC(6')-Ib-cr is a variant of aminoglycoside acetyltransferase (Figure 1.7 (d2)). AAC(6')-Ib-cr seems to have emerged more recently and might be even more prevalent than the Qnr proteins (Cattoir et al., 2009, Robicsek et al., 2006,).

There has been a worldwide attention to PMQR since the first report of its occurrence in 1994 in the United States. Since then, PMQR has been reported in Asia, Africa, Australia, and several countries in Europe (Ajayi et al., 2012, Kirchner et al., 2011, Robicsek et al., 2006). In the countries close to Norway, PMQR has been identified in Gram-negative bacteria from cattle in England, Wales (Kirchner et al., 2011), and Scotland (Murray et al., 2008). In comparison, the first detection of PMQR in Scandinavia was in two human isolates found in Denmark in 2007 (Cavaco et al., 2007). Further studies have detected PMQR in humans in Norway and Sweden (Samuelsen et al., 2008, Karah et al., 2010). Farm animals other than cattle have been detected as carriers in Norway, including turkey (Slettemeås et al., 2019) and chicken (NORM/NORM-VET, 2013). To the best of the author's knowledge, PMQR has not been detected in cattle in Norway.



Figure 1.7 Mechanisms of quinolone resistance. (a) Chromosomal mutations within the QRDRs of the genes encoding the A and B subunits of DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV structurally change the target protein, reducing its drug-binding affinity. (b) Chromosomal mutations leading to reduced outer membrane permeability, by either reduced porin expression (b1) or modifications in the outer membrane organisation (b2), and mutations leading to an increased expression of efflux pumps (c), contribute additively to resistance by decreasing cytoplasmic quinolone accumulation. (d) Plasmid-encoded quinolone resistance genes can produce *Qnr*-targetprotection proteins (d1), AAC(6)-*Ib-cr* acetyltransferase variants capable of modifying certain quinolones (d2) or *QepA* and *OqxAB* efflux pumps that actively extrude quinolones (adapted from Correia et al., 2016).

1.5 Occurrence and dissemination of QREC in cattle

1.5.1 Occurrence of quinolones in the farm environment

Although antimicrobial usage exerts a selective force on resistance development, there is evidence that the prevalence of resistance in a bacterial population may not be related only to levels of antimicrobial usage. Resistant organisms sometimes persist after quinolones have been withdrawn (Hoyle et al., 2005). Because quinolones are strongly absorbed pharmaceuticals, they tend to accumulate in soil and sediments (Pico et al., 2007, Xiiong et al., 2015). Accumulation of quinolones in the farm environment could originate from several sources, including human waste and excretion, aquaculture, other companion or farm animals, and residual water from the pharmaceutical industry (Figure 1.8). A seven-year survey of bovine pathogenic strains from eight European countries found that QREC were present before the marketing of quinolones in 1997 (Meunier et al., 2004).



Figure 1.8 Pathways into the environment for fluoroquinolones. Quinolones are strongly absorbed pharmaceuticals and tend to accumulate in soil and sediments (Pico et al., 2007, Xiiong et al., 2015).

1.5.2 Dynamics of quinolone resistance

Several studies have now demonstrated that young bovines show a higher prevalence of resistant faecal *E. coli*, including QREC, than older stock. Thus, the susceptibility of calves to colonisation by resistant bacteria seems to be linked to their age (Hoyle et al., 2004, Edrington et al., 2012, Duse et al., 2015). QREC have been found in calves on the day of birth and then declines significantly with age (Hoyle et al., 2004, Duse et al., 2015). Early detection could be associated with calving in group pens (Duse et al., 2015).

The age-related decline in the shedding of resistant *E. coli* among calves is a well-established phenomenon. Berge et al., (2005) found a decrease in the occurrence of antimicrobial

resistance beginning when the calves were aged 4–6 weeks. In contrast, Donaldson et al., (2006) stated that antimicrobial-resistant strains commonly peak in calves at 14 days of age, and a Swedish paper from Duse et al., (2015) focusing specifically on QREC shedding found a sudden and significant reduction in the relative number of QREC around 18 days of age (Figure 1.9). The same study found age to be the most critical risk factor for faecal shedding of QREC.



Figure 1.9 The within-sample prevalence of quinolone-resistant *E. coli* from calves (circles for individuals and solid line for the age mean) as a function of calf age. Sampling was performed once per animal. A sudden and significant reduction in the relative number of QREC was found around 18 days of age (Duse et al., 2015). This figure visualises an age-related decline in the shedding of resistant *E. coli* among calves as found in other comparable studies (Berge et al., 2005, Donaldson et al., 2006, Hoyle et al., 2004).

Jurado et al., (2008) have suggested that the decline in resistance prevalence could be artefactual, reflecting an overall reduction in total *E. coli*, with the number of resistant bacteria falling below the detection limits of the assay even though the proportion of resistant bacteria remains unchanged. Another hypothesis is that multidrug-resistant *E. coli* effectively compete only when significant competition is lacking. As the animal ages and the gut matures, the resistance becomes a burden, and the multidrug-resistant *E. coli* is excluded from the system (Edrington et al., 2012). Nevertheless, research on the dynamics of antibiotic resistance expression in the normal faecal microflora of cattle is limited.

1.5.3 Geographical distribution of QREC occurrence

The genetic diversity of QREC demonstrates the spread of distinct clones within and between farms. A Swedish paper stated that cattle on farms located close together were more likely to share the same genotype than cattle on farms located far apart (Duse et al., 2016). Clonal dissemination of QREC from dairy calves has been described, and the identical clones of QREC have been found throughout herds over time (Duse et al., 2016, Hoyle et al., 2005).

Regional distribution of QREC has been documented, with certain regions having higher occurrences. Within-farm diversity was greater for farms that had purchased cattle over the years than farms with a more closed cattle population. On-farm biosecurity was associated with QREC shedding (Duse et al., 2016). Such data could indicate that calves were colonised by resistant strains, with a probable environmental source that could have been transferred within the local community.

Wild mammals and birds are implicated as potential reservoirs for food-borne antimicrobialresistant bacteria. Wild birds that often visit cattle farms have a great potential to disseminate resistant bacteria among the cattle across a region (Medhanie et al., 2016). Recent work in the United States found a strong positive association between the total number of birds and increased MDR *E. coli* shedding in cattle (Figure 1.10, Carlson et al., 2020 and Chandler et al., 2020). All regions included had a population of birds in which ciprofloxacin-resistant *E. coli* were detected. Birds carry resistant strains over large distances and interact with livestock and human populations. The prevalence and resistance mechanisms of bacteria in migratory birds have not yet been identified in detail, but it appears probable that QREC shedding could be associated with birds.

20



Figure 1.10 A strong positive association has been found between the total number of birds and an increased occurrence of QREC shedding in cattle (Carlson et al., 2020).

1.5.4 Distribution of QREC shedding in other farm animals

A Norwegian study that included farm-, companion-, and wild animal species identified the lowest occurrence of QREC among cattle, horses, reindeer, and sheep and the highest occurrence among broilers and wild birds (Kaspersen et al., 2018). As compared to other farm animals, the lower occurrence among cattle has been observed globally (Kaesbohrer et al., 2012, Ping et al., 2019., Wasyl et al., 2013). Avian species have been found to have the highest occurrence of QREC shedding (Figure 1.11). However, high levels in cattle do occur. A study found an alarmingly high level of quinolone resistance in bacteria isolated from cattle, reaching 77% of tested feedlot cattle in the United States (Tang et al., 2017). Duse et al., (2016) found at least one QREC-positive sample from pre-weaned calves in all but one of 23 sampled farms. An et al., (2017) have stated that unique sets of selective pressures appear to be associated with different livestock environments since identical resistant genotypes are found within the same farm animal species (i.e., avian, bovine, and porcine). The data available to date could indicate that QREC are widespread in the global livestock population,

with great variation in occurrence between species and countries. The variation could arise from unidentified risk factors for QREC appearance.



Figure 1.11 Fluoroquinolone resistance in *E. coli* isolated from animals at slaughter in Poland (Wasyl et al., 2013). In cattle isolates, nalidixic acid and ciprofloxacin resistance were observed in 3.0 and 3.3%, respectively

1.6 Weak mutators and farm management factors

1.6.1 Fitness cost

The distribution of fitness effects is a fundamental entity in genetics that describes the proportion of new mutations that are advantageous, neutral, or harmful. Quinolone resistance has been reported to have a deleterious impact on one or more bacterial growth parameters, suggesting that mutations causing quinolone resistance are generally costly for bacteria (Bhatnagar et al., 2019).

On the other hand, a study of *Salmonella typhi* found that a combination of mutations in the *gyrA* and *parC* genes results in higher fitness than in a scenario of independent fitness effects, suggesting that there is a synergistic interaction between the two mutations (Baker et al., 2013, Redgrave et al., 2014). Baker et al. and Redgrave et al., concluded that mutations associated with quinolone resistance induce significant fitness benefits in the absence of antimicrobial pressure. These results highlight that reducing the occurrence of quinolone resistance is more complicated than simply restricting the use of antimicrobial agents.

1.6.2 Weak mutators and SOS response

Weak mutations, where no single mutation has been found to confer clinical resistance by itself, could be of particular interest for quinolone resistance (Baquero et al., 2001, Örlén et al., 2006). Clinically resistant QREC usually have multiple mutations, implying those resistant lineages have undergone several mutation and selection cycles. The occurrence of weak hypermutator bacteria may reflect their enhanced ability to evolve resistance and persist longer than strong mutators without incurring major fitness costs (Örlén et al., 2006).

Prolonged survival under stress conditions may increase the mutation rate, allowing the emergence of more favourable mutations. Stressors well-established in the *E. coli* literature include nutrient starvation, pH downshifting, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, membrane damage, hyperosmolarity, and non-optimal high and low temperatures (Poole et al., 2012). Additionally, quinolones are known stressors that increase the mutation rate and activate the SOS response (Qin et al., 2015, Baquero et al., 2001, Philips et al., 1987). Specific bacterial genes associated with the increased horizontal transfer, mutation rate, and DNA damage repair are categorised as taking part in the SOS response, a bacterial cell survival strategy. Activation of the SOS response is particularly important for ciprofloxacin resistance development in *E. coli* (Poole et al., 2012). Regardless, much remains unknown about the role of the SOS response in colonising the intestinal gut (Samuels et al., 2019).

In environments that change rapidly, variants that increase their mutation rates due to the activated SOS response could be selected, since they have an increased probability of acquiring beneficial mutations. Conversely, if the environment is constant, the mutation rate

tends to decrease as the organism becomes maximally adapted because of the costs associated with deleterious mutations (Baquero et al., 2004).

1.6.3 Management variables

Various management variables could interfere with the gastrointestinal microflora and potentially affect QREC shedding. Previous studies have linked environmental factors, including diet, to quinolone resistance in commensal *E. coli* (Boseman et al., 2014, Edrington et al., 2012). Various management factors which could affect *E. coli* as potential stressors are highlighted in the following subsections.

1.6.3.1 Diet

Diet composition is one of the most important factors influencing the structure and function of the gut microbiome (Turnbaugh et al., 2009). Diets change during the different stages of the cow's production cycle, from the maturation of young calves with shifts between milk-based, forage-based, and high-energy rations into cows with marked shifts in diet between the dry period and lactation. Within a few weeks, the forage-to-concentrate ratio can change markedly, resulting in a disturbed microflora vulnerable to competition from new bacterial species (Edrington et al., 2012).

Previous studies of bovine diet and MDR bacteria have focused on calves and the presence of factors related to milk feeding. The pasteurisation of waste milk significantly reduces the occurrence of MDR *E. coli* in calves (Edrington et al., 2012). Supporting literature from Sweden found that calves fed with waste milk were more likely to shed *E. coli* resistant to different antibiotics, including QREC (Duse et al., 2015). Also, the risk of QREC shedding increased when waste milk contained benzylpenicillin. This is of special interest in Norway, where penicillin is the most-selling antibacterial class for cattle (NORM/NORM-VET, 2020).

The primary part of a ruminant diet is plants. Plants are rich in a wide variety of secondary metabolites, such as tannins, terpenoids, alkaloids, and flavonoids, which have been found *in vitro* to have antimicrobial properties (Cowan et al., 1999). Flavonoids are bioactive and exhibit antimicrobial activity against Gram-negative bacteria (Omosa et al., 2013). Isoflavone, a component of flavonoids, targets topoisomerases I and II, one of the same targets as

quinolones, causing antimicrobial effects. Isoflavones are components typically found in plants used for cattle farming, such as peas, soy, and alfalfa (Aarnes et al., 2000). Plants' antimicrobial effects are well established. In contrast, cattle diets in regard to the risk for increased quinolone resistance are not well established.

Formic acid-based additives are an option for preserving silage material with minimal nutrient loss and are a common option for preserving feed for ruminants. Formic acid as a silage additive has an antibacterial effect on many bacterial species, decreasing bacterial counts and thus modifying the balance of bacterial communities in the intestine (Garrido et al., 2004). Garrido et al., (2004) found that organic acids modify the normal intestinal microbiota in monogastric animals like chickens. The effects of long-term exposure to organic acids on the normal microbiota are not well studied, and little is known about their effects on the ruminant microbiome.

Feed could also be a source of contamination by microorganisms, including enteric bacteria such as *E. coli* and *Salmonella*, which can carry and transmit AMR. Post-processing contamination may occur in transport and storage facilities, through wildlife access, or through the contamination of feeders (Taylor et al., 2009, Hoyle et al., 2005).

1.6.3.2 Farm intensity

Farm intensity does not have a final definition but rather is made up of complex assumptions about individual countries' politics and regional natural resources. Farm intensity could be broadly defined as farming with a high level of force to maximise yield in a given farming area (Almås, 2015). Wallenbeck et al., (2019) defined farm intensity as the level of milk yield and the feeding ratio. Milk yield and expected feed intake have a strong positive correlation (Kristensen et al., 1985). The forage-to-concentrate ratio is another important element of milk yield, and this ratio additionally impacts the occurrence of bloat and diarrhoea (Olsson et al., 1997). Changes in the digestive tract microbiome have been identified in cattle exhibiting diarrhoea (Zeineldin et al., 2018). Based on these results, it is tempting to hypothesise that intensive production systems could affect the cattle resistome. Idel et al., (2013) have reported another aspect: intensive production systems are closely associated with frequent veterinary treatments. More intensive management is believed to increase the usage of antimicrobials and heighten the risk of disseminating antimicrobial-resistant bacteria (Idel et al., 2013).

Evidence suggests that QREC can persist and spread within the cattle population despite a negligible usage of quinolone. However, the mechanisms and risk factors are still not fully understood. The negligible usage of fluoroquinolones in the Norwegian cattle production chain provides a unique platform for gaining insight into the risk factors and spread of quinolone resistance. The complex composition of farm management factors is of additional interest as a driver for quinolone resistance development. To the author's knowledge, farm intensity in relation to quinolone resistance has not been studied as a risk factor. It is of interest to study transmission in depth at the farm level. While the clonal dissemination of QREC from dairy calves has been studied, transmission from cows to their calves has not been described. This thesis will address some of these aspects.

2. Aims of the Study

Main objective

The primary objective of this study was to increase the understanding of the occurrence of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* (QREC) in Norwegian cattle despite the negligible quinolone usage in cattle treatment, focusing on farm management risk factors and transmission within the farm and from cows to their calves.

Sub-objectives

1. To investigate differences in QREC occurrence between high- and low-intensive dairy farms

Achieved by identifying the levels of QREC at different levels of farm intensities (Study I)

2. To investigate the dynamics of QREC occurrence and dissemination between cow and calf

Achieved by sampling frequently for QREC over the first three months postpartum in both cows and calves (Study II)

- To obtain knowledge about risk factors for QREC occurrence
 Achieved by comparing the prevalence of risk factors between QREC-negative
 and QREC-positive farms (Study I)
- To gain insight into the antibiotic resistance phenotypes of QREC and the distributions of minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) related to quinolone resistance

Achieved by MIC testing of isolated QREC (Study I and Study II)

5. To assess the genetic diversity and relatedness of QREC within and between dairy farms in Norway

Achieved by phenotypic and genotypic analysis (Study I and Study II)

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Study design and populations

3.1.1 Study I

The study was conducted as a cross-sectional study with faecal sampling of calves from two study groups. Figure 3.1 summarises the selection process.

The study population in Study I was recruited from producers delivering milk to the dairy cooperative TINE according to the Norwegian Dairy Herd Recording System (NDHRS). The location was limited to six councils in Norway to avoid a transportation time of more than four hours from farm to laboratory. The study excluded farms with milk production between 5,001 litres and 8,499 litres to get a distinct difference between the low- and high-intensive farms.

The farms remained anonymous throughout the selection process. Contact information and names were first collected after the selection was complete. The selection continued until a total of 21 farmers from 11 high-yielding and 10 low-yielding farms responded to participate. The primary goal was to include 5 to 15 calves below three months from each farm in the study. Initial conversations with the farmers revealed the number of calves and their ages during the sampling period. These data were used to adjust the inclusion criteria to maintain the number of samples. Thus, a minimum level of three calves at each farm was determined, although only two farms had less than five calves at the sampling time. Also, the final inclusion criteria comprised calves younger than four months, although calves up to nine months old were included in three out of 20 farms.

All farmers received an informational letter by email before the visit. Eleven low-intensive and ten high-intensive herds were visited once during the study period. One low-intensive farm was excluded after sampling because it changed its production from dairy to beef during the sampling period.



Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of the selection process of farms enrolled in Study I. Notes: ¹ Norwegian Cattle Health Recording System (NCHRS). ² Organisation of counties before 2020 Oslo, Akershus, Buskerud, Østfold, Hedmark, and Oppland were included. ³ One farm was excluded due to changing its production from dairy to beef during sampling.

3.1.2 Study II

The study was conducted as a cohort study, sampling cows and calves postpartum. Figure 3.2 summarises the selection process.

The study population of Study II was recruited from two dairy farms connected to the Faculty's Veterinary Out-Patient Clinic. The farms were located within a one-hour drive of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine in Oslo to make frequent sampling feasible for one person. The participants were asked for the amount of calving expected during the second week of January 2018. The farmers permitted sampling every second week for three months. Pre-sampling was conducted in ten calves from both farms before the study was initiated to confirm QREC occurrence at the farm. The faecal samples collected for the study were taken from three cows and their respective three calves (Figure 3.2)

3.2 Contributions by the author and others

S.M.F. and A.M.B. conceived and planned the studies. A.M.B. and H.K. supervised the project. S.M.F. collected samples and data and performed the laboratory work. S.M.F., A.M.B., and H.K. contributed to the interpretation of the results. S.M.F., A.M.B., and H.K. analysed the data. H.K. performed the bioinformatics. S.M.F wrote this thesis under the supervision of A.M.B.

3.3 Sampling procedure

In Study I, calf faecal and environmental samples were collected to investigate the occurrence of QREC. In Study II, faecal samples from calves and their respective mother cows were sampled for the occurrence of QREC over time. The sampling for Study I was conducted between October 2017 and April 2018. The sampling for Study II started in January 2018 and lasted until April of the same year.



Figure 3.2 Flow diagram of the selection process for cattle enrolled in Study II.

3.3.1 Faecal samples

Faecal samples from individual calves were collected *per rectum*, within 2–5 cm of the rectal opening, and collected in plastic tubes containing Amies Charcoal Medium (VWR International, part of Avantor, Radnor U.S.). The samples were transported to the university by car and stored at 4°C until the analysis. Analysis was performed within 48 hours of sampling, in line with the provider's guidelines.

3.3.2 Environmental samples

A pre-moistened sterile cloth kept in a stomacher bag was used per sampling site for environmental sampling in Study I (Sodibox, Labolytic, Trondheim, Norway). Five specific targeted sites were swabbed at each farm, measured at approximately 0.25 m² for each spot. The given locations were (1) calving areas, (2) calf pens, (3) calf water buckets, (4) calf feed buckets, milk buckets, or automatic milk feeders, and (5) floors close to the sampled calves. The transport conditions were the same as with the faecal samples.

3.3.3 Determination of farm hygiene

The general hygiene at the farms was taken into consideration for Study I. The degree of faecal contamination at the environmental sample sites was scored with a three-point user-defined scale: (1) *clean* surfaces, (2) *intermediate* faecal contamination, and (3) *heavy* faecal contamination. Furthermore, the cleaning detergent used for cleaning the farm environment was registered.

The quality of the sluice gate was another aspect of farm hygiene. The functionality was rated on a four-point scale where the presence of physical separation between *clean* and *dirty* zones and access to water, clean wellies, and farm clothing were the basis for the assessment. Each farm was assigned a score: (1) *absent*, (2) *excellent*, (3) *good*, or (4) *insufficient*. The hygiene scores were used as descriptive data only (Appendix I).

3.4 Laboratory methods

3.4.1 Preparation, screening, and identification of QREC

A total of 317 samples (213 faecal samples for Study I, 20 environmental samples for Study I, and 84 faecal samples for Study II) were incubated on MacConkey agar with 0.06 mg/L ciprofloxacin (The Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Oslo, Norway) for selective screening of QREC (Figure 3.3). Bromothymol blue agar (in-house) was used as a QREC non-selective agar. Faecal swabs were transferred to Falcon tubes (Sarstedt 15 ml, Thermo Fisher Scientific Co. L.L.C, USA) with 4.5 ml buffered peptone water (PBW) and mixed using a vortexer (Reax top, Heidolph, Germany) to generate the 10⁻¹ dilution. For environmental samples, 100 ml of BPW were added to each sample kept in stomacher bags before mixing it in a stomacher (Star-BlenderTM LB 400, VWR, France) for 30 seconds. Then, 1 ml was transferred to a collecting tube to generate the 10⁻¹ dilution. Serial dilutions of faecal and environmental samples in isotonic saline were made, and 100 µl were transferred for the final dilution of 10^{-5} . Thereafter, 100 µl were spread on the agar with a sterile, bent plastic rod. Dilution factors (DFs) 10⁻² and 10⁻³ were used for QREC detection on selective agars. A higher DF was used to quantify commensal E. coli on a non-selective plate, 10^{-2} and 10^{-5} . The dilutions were performed in duplicate, and the stock solution was incubated overnight at 37°C. Additionally, the 10⁻¹ dilution was incubated overnight at 37°C and then spread on MacConkey agar with 0.06 mg/L ciprofloxacin to detect QREC after enrichment.

Colony-forming units (CFUs) of lactose-positive colonies with typical *E. coli* morphology were counted on QREC-selective and QREC non-selective agar plates. Mean within-sample prevalence of QREC was calculated by dividing the total number of counted CFUs on QREC-selective agar by the total number of counted CFUs on QREC non-selective agar and correcting for dilution factor. An *E. coli* colony was defined as resistant if it grew on selective media containing 0.06 mg/L ciprofloxacin. A total of 55 isolates of QREC were isolated from the agars based upon morphological selection. Resistance was further verified by microdilution with SensiTitre by utilising the ECOFF values defined by EUCAST.

Presumptive *E. coli* colonies were randomly chosen and sub-cultured on blood agar at 37°C overnight. Then, presumptive *E. coli* isolates were tested for production of tryptophanase (indole test) and citrate for first-step species identification. Lactose- and indole-positive and citrate-negative isolates with typical colony morphology (bright pink on MacConkey agar, yellow in Bromothymol blue agar, and a medium-sized [2–3 mm in diameter] opaque morphology) were considered to be *E. coli*. API-20E kits (bioMérieux, Inc., North Carolina, USA) were used in a few situations where colony morphology and biochemical tests were inconsistent. Random and confirmed isolates of *E. coli* were transferred to a 2-mL microtube containing 0.8 mL 50% glycerol and stored at -80°C. For further accuracy of the assumed *E. coli* isolates, matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation–time of flight (MALDI–TOF, Microflex, Bruker100 Daltonik GmbH) was performed.

Thirty and 25 possible *E. coli* isolates were stored from Study I and Study II after macromorphological and biochemical tests, respectively. All 55 isolates were identified as *E. coli* by MALDI–TOF; however, two isolates from Study II were lost and thus not included in MIC testing. Twenty-one isolates from Study I and all 23 isolates from Study II had MIC values above the epidemiological cut-off and were identified as QREC isolates. All 30 isolates (including isolates above and below cut-off) were whole-genome sequenced, while a random selection of six isolates from Study II was selected for WGS due to cost limitations. The six isolates from Study II provided a restricted overview of genotype variation in these isolates. The isolates were chosen to provide further understanding of genetic diversity in different isolates from calves and cows at the same farm, as well as changes in isolates over time in a single calf. Then, a random selection from the other farm was made. Twenty-one *E. coli* isolates from Study I had MICs for ciprofloxacin above the cut-off, whereas 19 isolates from Study II had MICs above the epidemiological cut-off and were identified as QREC. To compensate for a low amount of WGS, all isolates from Study II were *gyrA* sequenced. In three isolates, *gyrA* was not found by conventional PCR.

Selection for WGS was intended to provide further insight into within-farm genomic variation given a limited selection of isolates. Isolates with similar phenotypic resistance patterns were chosen. In addition, an isolate with a MIC just below the epidemiological cut-off from the same farm, and a random isolate from the other farm, were included.



QREC-selective MacConkey agar with the growth of *E. coli* after enrichment overnight at 37°C. Picture: Silje Mogstad Finstad.



Bromothymol blue agar non-selective for QREC with a mixed culture. Suspected lactose-positive *E. coli* are yellow. Picture: Silje Mogstad Finstad.

3.4.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

The *E. coli* isolates that grew on quinolone-selective agar were tested for a panel of 14 antimicrobial agents to obtain accurate MICs. Sensititre (Sensititre[™] TREK Diagnostics, LTD) based on Mueller Hinton broth dilution was used, with each plate pre-dosed with antimicrobial agents at appropriate dilutions. The panel included the following antimicrobial agents: sulfamethoxazole (8–1024 mg/L), trimethoprim (0.25–32 mg/L), ciprofloxacin (0.015–8 mg/L), tetracycline (2–64 mg/L), meropenem (0.03–16 mg/L), azithromycin (2–64 mg/L), nalidixic acid (4–128 mg/L), ceftazidime (0.25–1 mg/L), chloramphenicol (1–16 mg/L), tigecycline (0.25–8 mg/L), ceftazidime (0.5–8 mg/L), colistin (1–16 mg/L), ampicillin (1–64 mg/L), and gentamicin (0.5–32 mg/L). The procedure was conducted according to the manufacturer's protocol, and MIC values were determined manually by visual reading of growth.

3.4.3 Preparations for gyrA sequencing

DNA extraction and conventional PCR were used to amplify the *gyrA* gene before Sanger sequencing. Twenty QREC isolates sampled in Study II were included in this analysis. DNA was extracted by transferring a few colonies to 500 μ l of PCR-grade water in an Eppendorf tube. The suspension was then mixed well and boiled at 100°C for 10 min, followed by
centrifugation at 13,000 rpm (MiniSpin[®], Eppendorf, Germany) for 2 minutes. The eluted DNA was stored at -20°C until further processing.

All isolates were screened for the presence of the *gyrA* gene by conventional PCR, using PCR primers as described by Oram et al., (1991). PCR reagents are listed in Table 3.1, and PCR conditions are described in Table 3.2. Subsequent gel electrophoresis was performed using a 1.5% agarose gel in 1X TBE buffer at 90 V for 60 minutes. The PCR products were stained using SYBR® Safe dye added during the agarose gel preparation and visualised using a GelDoc imager. Positive *gyrA* products were cut out and cleaned using QIAquick PCR Cleanup Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol and stored at -20°C until transport for Sanger sequencing (Eurofins GATC Biotech, Ebersberg, Germany). The DNA sequences of amplified *gyrA* genes were used to determine the mutations encoding quinolone resistance in the quinolone resistance-determining region (QRDR).

Table 3.1 PCR reagents

Reagent	Volume (per sample) in µl
PCR-buffer	5
MgCl2	1,5
dNTP-mix	1
Taq	0,4
Primer F (TACACCGGTCAACATTGAGG)	2,5
Primer R (TTAATGATTGCCGCCGTCGG)	2,5
H ₂ O	32,1
Template	5
Total	50

Table 3.2 PCR condition	1S
-------------------------	----

Cycles	Temperature (°C)	Time
	94	5 m
	92	25 s
30	64	1 m
	74	2.5 m
	74	5 m

3.4.4 DNA extraction for whole-genome sequencing (WGS)

All 30 isolates from Study I and six selected isolates from Study II were sub-cultured from MacConkey to blood agar before extraction with the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA concentration was determined using the broad-range DNA Qubit assay (Qubit[™], Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), and DNA quality was assessed using the NanoDrop (NanoDrop[™] One/OneC, Thermo Scientific, USA). A Fragment Analyzer automated capillary electrophoresis system instrument (catalogue number FSV2-DE2-100; Advanced Analytical) and gel electrophoresis were used to determine DNA integrity.

3.4.5 Library preparation and sequencing

Library preparation and sequencing were done in two sets, with the sequencing service first provided (26 isolates) by the Norwegian Sequencing Centre (Oslo, Norway) and thereafter (10 isolates) by the Norwegian Veterinary Institute (Ås, Norway) for practical purposes.

The Norwegian Sequencing Centre performed a Nextera Flex library preparation using the quality-controlled DNA, spiked with PhiX for quality control, followed by sequencing on a HiSeq 3000 instrument (Illumina). The sequencing resulted in paired-end reads of 150 bp. Quality-controlled DNA was used by the Norwegian Sequencing Centre for Nextra Flex (Illumina) library preparation and sequencing in a HiSeq 3000 instrument (HiSeq3/4000 NexteraFlex) and was spiked with PhiX for sequencing quality control, resulting in paired-end reads of 150 bp. The remaining isolates were sequenced at the Norwegian Veterinary Institute using Nextera Flex library preparation, spiking with PhiX, and a MiSeq instrument, resulting in paired-end reads of 300 bp.

3.4.6 Quality control and contaminant screening

Sequences were quality controlled using FastQC (https://www.bioinformatics. babraham.ac. uk/projects/fastqc/) version 0.11.9. Mash (DOI:10.1186/s13059-019-1841-x) version 2.2.2 was used to screen for potential contaminants. A minimum identity value was set at 0.95. Bacterial species other than *E. coli* at levels above this threshold were deemed contaminants, and their samples were excluded from further analysis.

3.4.7 Antimicrobial resistance gene identification and MLST

Antimicrobial Resistance Identification by Assembly (ARIBA) (DOI: 10.1099/mgen.0.000131) version 2.12.1 was used to determine the presence of mutations, acquired resistance genes, and STs from raw reads. The QRDR of *gyrA*, *gyrB*, *parC*, and *parE* were investigated for mutations using the MegaRes database (DOI:10.1093/nar/gkw1009). Additionally, the presence of PMQR genes such as *qnr*, *oqxAB*, and *qepA* were determined using the ResFinder database (DOI:10.1093/jac/dks261). STs were determined using the multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) scheme hosted by EnteroBase (DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05172.x)

3.4.8 Genome assembly

Quality-controlled reads were trimmed and adapters removed using Trimmomatic (DOI:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu170) version 0.39, followed by PhiX removal using BBDuk (https://jgi.doe.gov/data-and-tools/bbtools/bb-tools-user-guide/bbduk-guide/) version 38.76. The trimmed and filtered reads were assembled using SPAdes (DOI: 10.1089/cmb.2012.0021) version 3.14.0, using the "careful" option. The quality of assembly was determined using QUAST (DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btt086) version 5.0.2.

3.4.9 Phylogenetic analysis

A core-gene phylogenetic reconstruction was performed to determine the evolutionary relationships between the isolates. First, the assembled genomes were annotated using Prokka (10.1093/bioinformatics/btu153) version 1.14.6. Then, the pangenome was determined with Panaroo (DOI: 10.1186/s13059-020-02090-4) version 1.2.2. The predicted core genes for

instance, genes that were present in at least 99% of the genomes were aligned and concatenated with MAFFT (DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkf436) version 7.464. IQ-Tree (DOI: 10.1093/molbev/msu300) version 1.6.12 was used to generate a maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree from the core-gene alignment using ModelFinder plus (DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.4285) and ultrafast bootstrapping (DOI:10.1093/molbev/msx281). Pairwise single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) distances were calculated with snp-dists (https://github.com/tseemann/snp-dists) version 0.6.3. Phylogenetic trees were visualised using R (R Core Team) version 3.6.2 and the ggtree package (DOI 10.1002/cpbi.96, 10.1093/molbev/msy194, 10.1111/2041-210X.12628.).

A phylogenetic analysis with a higher resolution was used in Study II. Here, the core genome was determined using ParSNP (DOI: 10.1186/s13059-014-0524-x) version 1.5.3. Then, recombinant areas were identified and masked from the alignment using Gubbins (10.1093/nar/gku1196) version 2.4.1 and maskrc-svg (https://github.com/ kwongj/maskrc-svg) version 0.5, respectively. IQ-Tree was subsequently used to reconstruct the phylogeny from the masked alignment similarly described above. Pairwise SNP distances were calculated with snp-dists.

3.5 Statistical methods

Data were entered in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Corporation) and transferred to R software (R 3.6.2, R Core Team, Austria). High- and low-intensive farms were compared for the general occurrence of QREC, which was analysed using Fisher's exact test. A *p*-value of less than or equal to 0.05 was considered significant, and the study was designed with a statistical power of 0.8 (Table 3.3). A correlation matrix for changes in QREC occurrence over time was analysed with Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

	Farms	Sample size
Sample size 1 (n1)	10	5-15 calves
Sample size 2 (n2)	10	5-15 calves
Total sample size (both groups)	20	100- 300 samples
Proportion 1	0,6	

Table 3.3 Power analysis for Study I





Figure 3.3 Flowchart presenting the number of isolates in different methodology stages included in Study I.



Figure 3.4 Flowchart presenting the number of isolates for different methodology stages included in Study II. ¹ Two isolates were lost and thus not stored for further analysis. ² In three isolates, the *gyrA* sequence was not found by conventional PCR. ³Only six isolates were whole-genome sequenced due to cost limits.

4. Results

4.1 Study I

4.1.1 Prevalence of QREC

QREC were identified in 9.8% of all faecal samples (21/213) from calves irrespective of production intensity (defined by milk yield at a farm level). Out of 30 faecal samples with growth on selective agar, nine samples were found to have MIC values for ciprofloxacin below the ECOFF values defined by EUCAST (0.064 mmol/L). Interestingly, QREC were more abundant in high-intensive farms where 13.3% (19/143) of all calves sampled carried QREC compared to 2.8% (2/70) of the calves from low-intensive farms. A farm was defined as QREC positive if QREC were identified from one or more calves. Within the high-intensive group, QREC were isolated from two out of 10 farms (70%). In contrast, in the low-intensive group, QREC were isolated from two out of 10 farms (20%). The higher occurrence of QREC identified in high-intensive farms compared to low-intensive farms was significantly different (p = 0.0322). Contingency tables are visualised in Table 4.1. QREC were isolated from two out of 20 environmental samples, and both samples were from high-intensive farms in which calves were also found to be QREC positive.

Table 4.1 Contingency table was used to summarise the relationship between the occurrence of QREC and farm intensity. For the analysis, a Fisher's exact test was conducted. The higher occurrence of QREC identified in high-intensive farms compared to low-intensive farms was significantly different (p = 0.0322).

	QREC negative	QREC positive
High-intensive farms	3	7
Low-intensive farms	8	2

The prevalence of calves shedding QREC differed from 7 to 53% at a farm level. The three farms with the highest within-sample prevalence of QREC had the highest prevalence of QREC-shedding calves and were all within the high-intensive group (Table 4.2). The average within-sample prevalence for these three farms was 5.53% QREC among the total number of *E. coli*. Except for these three farms, QREC were only found after enrichment and incubation

overnight, indicating a low proportion of QREC in the intestinal microflora. Generally, lowlevel quinolone resistance was found in *E. coli* isolated from the calf faecal samples, with an MIC value for ciprofloxacin between 0.12 mg/L and 0.5 mg/L. High MIC values of 8 mg/L for ciprofloxacin and 128 mg/L for nalidixic acid were found only at one farm in Study I, which was among the high-intensive farms. Surprisingly, ciprofloxacin-sensitive bacteria (MIC \leq 0.06 mg/L) in samples from both groups grew on the selective agar. This falsepositive QREC phenomenon was more predominant within the low-intensive group. Of the faecal samples with growth on selective agar, 77% were later found to be sensitive to quinolones compared to 4.8% within the high-intensive group.

Table 4.2 Descriptive statistics of studied farms: the proportion of calves shedding quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* (QREC) in faeces, the mean within-sample prevalence of QREC among calves, and the median MIC distribution. Each row represents a farm. Only isolates of clinically resistant QREC with MIC for ciprofloxacin above 0.064mg/L are included in this table.

Farm	Farm prevalence	No. of	Mean within - sample	Median MIC		Median MIC	
categ	(QREC- positive	QREC	prevalence of QREC	values (mg/L)		values (mg/L)	
ory	samples/total no. of	positive/no.	(no. QREC / total E.	for		for nalidixic	
	samples tested) %	tested	coli) %	ciprofloxacin	[Q1-Q3]	acid	[Q1-Q3]
Н	53	8/15	2.4	8	[8-8]	129	[8-129]
	7	1/15	<0.011	0.25	[0.25-0.25]	8	[8-8]
	7	1/14	<0.011	0.25	[0.25-0.25]	64	[64-64]
	27	4/15	11.5	0.25	[0.25-0.37]	64	[64-96]
	21	3/14	2.7	0.25	[0.25-0.25]	128	[64-128]
	0	0/13	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/15	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/14	-	-	-	-	-
	7	1/14	<0.011	0.12	[0.12-0.12]	32	[32-32]
	8	1/13	< 0.01 ¹	0.12	[0.12-0.12]	64	[64-64]
L	0	0/3	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/9	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/9	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/8	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/6	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/4	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/6	-	-	-	-	-
	0	0/5	-	-	-	-	-
	8	1/12	<0.011	0.5	[0.5-0.5]	128	[128-128]
	11	1/9	<0.011	0.12	[0.12-0.12]	64	[64-64]

Abbreviation: H=high-intensive farms. L=low-intensive farms. Q=quantiles 1: 25% and 3: 75%. A hyphen (-) is used for farms where no QREC were found. ¹ QREC detected only after incubation in enriched media overnight, classified with a relative abundance of <0.01% in the faecal material.

4.1.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

Of all QREC isolates identified, 14.3% showed only resistance against ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid (CiNal). Among the low-intensive farms, resistance against CiNal was the only phenotypic resistance profile found among the QREC isolates. The CiNal profile was also found in QREC isolated from one high-intensive farm. This study's most common phenotypic co-resistance pattern was resistance to ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, and trimethoprim (CiNalAmpSuTcTm), which represented 42.9% of the QREC isolates (Table 4.4).

ciprofloxacin resistance *E. coli* isolated within the low intensive (L) farms, 22.2% of the isolated *E. coli* were found resistant within the L-group. Whereas 95.2% of the isolates within the high-intensive (H) farms were found resistant to ciprofloxacin. The L-farms had a lower occurrence of resistance to other antimicrobial classes than the H-farms. Resistance to a greater verity of antimicrobial classes were found among the isolates from the H-farms, where resistance against six other antimicrobial classes were detected (ampicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamicin, sulfamethoxole, tetracycline, trimethoprim), compare to three classes detected among the isolates for from the L-farms Table 4.3 Distribution of MICs of different antimicrobial classes for E. coli isolated from selective agar plate with 0.06mg/l ciprofloxacin. This table include all isolates isolated from the selective agar plates, which involve isolates below the epidemiological cut-off for ciprofloxacin. The distribution visualizes a low level of (chloramphenicol, sulfamethaxazole and tetracycline).

	· · · · ·																	
Farm		Total nr. of						Distri	ibution (%) of N	IIC valu	es (mg/L	*					
cat.	Substance	sampels	Resistance (%)	0.0075	0.015	0.03 0	.06 0.3	2 0.25	0.5	-	2	4	16	32	64	128	256	2048
Н	Ampicillin	21	81				-		-	_	4.8	9.5 4	.8			81	-	
Н	Azithromycin	21	0		h an		-		_	_		85.7 4	.8 9.4	4		_	_	
Н	Chloramphenicol	21	14.3				-		_	_		81	4.8				14.3	
Н	Ciprofloxacin	21	95.2	4.8			9.5	5 38.1	4.8			7	2.9					
Н	Colitstin	21	0	_	h l		-		95.2		4.8		-	-		-	_	
Н	Cefotaxime	21	0		h and a second se	h h	10	0	-	_	1	1						
Н	Gentamicin	21	23.8	1		1 1	1	61.5		9.5	4.8			14.3	3 9.5	4		
Н	Meropenem	21	0		100													
Н	Nalidixic acid	21	90.5		4	1 1					4.8	7	.8	4.8	33.3	9.5	42.9	
Н	Sulfamethoxazole	21	81	-							-t	9.5		9.5				81
Н	Ceftazidime	21	0					100										
Н	Tetracycline	21	81							19					47.6	5 33.3		
Н	Tigecycline	21	0		4	6	5.2	4.8	. –	-	4		4	-	4	-		
Н	Trimpethoprim	21	61.9				19		19						61.9	•		
г	Ampicillin	9	0								33.3	33.3 3	3.3		-23			
г	Azithromycin	9	0									44.4 3	3.3 22	2			-	
L	Chloramphenicol	9	22.2	1		h h	1	4	h	1	1	33.3	33	.3 22.2	2	1	l L	4
Г	Ciprofloxacin	6	22.2	22.2		11.1 4	4.4 11	.1	11.1									
Г	Colitstin	6	0		4				88.9		11.1							
Г	Cefotaxime	6	0				10	0	_									
L	Gentamicin	6	0		h i i	h h	-	100		_								
Г	Meropenem	6	0	_	100		-			_	_					-	_	
Г	Nalidixic acid	6	33.3				_			_	55.6	1	1.1	11.1	11.1	11.1		
L	Sulfamethoxazole	6	11.1	_	h l	h h	-		-	_		44.4	22	2 22.2	2			11.1
Г	Ceftazidime	6	0				-	100	-								-	_
Г	Tetracycline	6	11.1	-	h i	н 	-	-	-	44.4		44.4				11.1	-	-
Г	Tigecycline	6	0	_	_		10	0		_	_			-		-	-	
Г	Trimpethoprim	6	0				11	.1	88.9							-	-	
*Bold	vertical lines denote	epidemiologica	l cut-off values for re-	ssistance.	White fields der	tote rang	e of dilu	ttions tes	sted for	each an	timicrol	ial						
agent.	IVILV VALUES INGUEL U	nam mignest conc	CIIIIAUOII ICSICS ALC É	given as u	IC IOMESI INTIC N	aluc apor	C UIC IS	ngc										

Table 4.4 MICs for quinolones and phenotypic resistance patterns for QREC isolates from calves within highand low-intensive farms. The nine isolates with the highest MIC values for quinolones were found within the same high-intensive farm. The phenotypic resistance pattern indicates mainly multidrug-resistant isolates from high-intensive farms, while the isolates from the low-yielding farms were only quinolone resistant.

Farm category	No. of isolates	CIP mg/ml NAL mg/ml		Phenotypic resistance pattern by Sensititre ®
Н	9	8	>128	CipNalAmpSuTcTm
Н	3	0.25	64	CipNalAmpGenSuTcTm
Н	1	0.5	128	CipNalAmpGenSuTcTm
Н	1	0.25	128	CipNalAmpChlGenSuTc
Н	1	0.25	64	CipNalAmpChlGenSuTc
Н	1	0.25	128	CipNalAmpSuTc
Н	1	0.25	64	CipNalSuTc
Н	1	0.12	64	CipNalAmpChl
Н	1	0.12	32	CipNal
L	1	0.5	4	CipNal
L	1	0.12	64	CipNal

Three QREC isolates (14.3%) were found to be resistant to ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, tetracycline, and gentamycin (CiNalAmpGenSuTcTm). Two QREC isolates (9.5%) were identified with a resistance pattern for ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamycin, sulfamethoxazole, and tetracycline (CiNalAmpChlGenSuTc). Four phenotypic resistance patterns were only found once: CiNalSuTc, CiNalAmpGenSuTcTm, CiNalAmpSuTc, and CiNalAmpChl.

4.1.3 Dissemination and genetic diversity of QREC

Similar phenotypic resistance profiles were identified between QREC isolates from the same farm; however, the profiles diverged between farms. Several phenotypic resistance patterns were identified at two high-intensive farms, and in both cases, a dominant phenotype was represented. QREC were isolated from the farm environment in two farms from the high-intensive group. The faecal and environmental QREC isolated from the same farm showed similar phenotypic resistance profiles and STs, ST 162 and 69 (Figure 4.1)

In all QREC isolates, point mutations were located only in the QRDR, and we did not detect PMQR genes in Study I (Figure 4.1). All 21 QREC isolates were found to have a mutation in *gyrA*, either a single (57.1%) or a double mutation (42.9%). Additionally, a single point mutation in *parC* was found in 66.7% of the isolates. Single point mutations in *gyrA* were located at either S83L (90.5%), D87N (42.9%), D87Y (4.8%), or D87G (4.8%). In five QREC

isolates (23.8%), a single mutation in *gyrA* at S83L was detected together with a mutation in *parC* at S57T. Double point mutations in *gyrA* were found in nine isolates (42.9%) at S83L and D87N, all accompanied with a single mutation in *parC* at S57T. QREC isolates carrying both the double *gyrA* and the single *parC* mutations demonstrated a higher MIC value for ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid than QREC isolates with only a single mutation detected. All nine QREC isolates with a double mutation in *gyrA* exhibited MIC values for ciprofloxacin of 8 mg/L and nalidixic acid of above 128 mg/L.

Eight unique sequence types (STs) were identified by the core-gene single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) alignment. All STs were unique to their farm except for ST69, which was identified at two farms. The most abundant ST was ST162 (42.9%, mean distance 15.7 SNPs), which was from the farm with the highest farm prevalence of QREC (Table 4.2). The following most common isolates were ST69 (19%, mean distance 4,425 SNPs) and ST925 (14.3%, mean distance 0 SNPs). Other STs included ST718, ST655, ST300, ST329, and ST301. Thus, the results of the SNP alignment indicate a clonal distribution within the farm.



Figure 4.1 Phylogenetic analysis and genetic characterization of QREC isolates are displayed in a maximumlikelihood core-gene SNP tree generated with IQ-Tree (ModelFinder). The sequence type and the coloured circles represent a QREC isolate from a given calf, where the colour depicts the farm origin. The cluster heat map combines the level of resistance to ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid with the occurrence of mutations in the quinolone resistance-determining region (QRDR). Mutations within the QRDR are highlighted with a grey square if present and a white square if not present. No mutations were found in *gyrB* or *parE*, and no plasmidmediated quinolone-resistant genes were detected (*qnr, opxAB*, or *qepA*). QREC were found in the environmental samples at two farms, and these environmental isolates are encircled with red. The branch nodes represent the confidence level greater or less than 0.95, coloured in white and black, respectively.

4.1.4 Farm-level variables

Farm variables collected by the questionnaire (Appendix I) are listed in Table 4.5. Questions related to concentrate level and type of product were excluded from the list due to unconcise answers, as well as infrequent usage of concentrate among the calves and changes in types. All responses from the questionnaire are available from the author upon request. Statistical analyses were not performed on the risk factor data obtained from the questionnaire due to the small study population size and a wide range of potential confounding variables.

4.1.4.1 Herd size

A large difference in herd size was found between the high- and low-intensive farms (Figure 4.2). High-intensive farms had between 17.5 and 69 productive cows per year, compared to low-intensive farms with 8 to 20 productive cows per year. Because of the smaller herd size, a lower number of calves was available for sampling within the group of low-intensive farms.





Figure 4.2 Boxplot of the two studies categories high- and low-intensive farms by herd size in number of cows (*y*-axis), visualising the difference in herd size within these two study groups. The boxplot demonstrates the variation in herd size between these two study groups. Whereas low-intensive farms represent small farms below the national average herd size, high-intensive farms have an average herd size considerably larger than the average.

4.1.4.2 Age

At sampling, the calves were on average 56.4 days old. Calves with QREC-positive samples were all less than 75 days of age (on average 30.1 days old). Calves with QREC-negative samples were on average 96.3 days old (Figure 4.3). Calves from high-intensive farms were on average 44.3 days old, whereas calves from low-intensive farms were on average 67.2 days old.



Occurrence of QREC in the fecal sample

Figure 4.3 Boxplot with the level of detection (*x*-axis) related to the individual calves' age in days (*y*-axis). This boxplot indicates that QREC-positive samples were found in calves younger than 100 days, while QREC-negative calves were found at all ages.

4.1.4.3 Forage conservation

Descriptive information about forage conservation was included in the questionnaire, including forage additives and organic/non-organic status. Most QREC-positive farms (77.8%) used additives for forage conservation. Formic acid was most frequently used (66.7%), followed by the bacterial additive Sill-All® (44.4%). Two of these nine QREC-positive farms used both Sill-All® and formic acid. In contrast, no forage conservation was predominant in farms where no QREC were detected. Of these QREC-negative farms, a proportion used formic acid or Sill-All®, 36.3% and 18.2%, respectively. Non-organic farms

were overrepresented within both study groups (in total, 70% non-organic farms were included). Organic farms were only found among the low-intensive group, and QREC were not detected among the these farms (Table 4.5).

4.1.4.4 Housing and hygiene

This study included ten farms with loose housing systems and ten with tie-stall systems. Loose housing dominated within the high-intensive group (90%), while the low-intensive group mainly had tie-stall housing (90%). QREC-positive calves were housed within both systems, with 66.7% of the QREC-positive farms having loose housing and 33.3% having tiestall housing. A contradictory phenomenon was found for the QREC-negative farms, where 63.7% had tie-stall and 28.2% loose housing. Nevertheless, the farm with the highest prevalence of QREC had a tie-stall system.

Quantitative hygiene scoring based on the farm environment and the visitors' entrance (disinfection sluice) was done on the sampling day. Interestingly, QREC were isolated from farms with hygiene scores of *clean* (44.4%) or *intermediate* (55.5%), while no QREC were isolated from the three farms scored as *dirty*. QREC were found regardless of the washing detergent used for routine cleaning. The most common cleaning method was only to use water without any detergent, and this method was used both at QREC-positive (77.7%) and QREC-negative farms (72.8%).

The quality of the visitor's entrance as a disinfection sluice was mainly found to be *good* or *excellent* (65%), and this quality was dominant within both the QREC-positive (66.7%) and the QREC-negative (63.6%) farms. Seven farms had disinfection sluices that were either absent or insufficient. Of these farms, 42.9% were QREC positive and 57.1% were QREC negative, respectively (Figure 4.5).

Table 4.5 Farm-level variables. Each row represents a farm and includes its responses to the questionnaire (Appendix I). Abbreviation: farm category; H =high-intensive farm, and L= low-intensive farm. An underlined letter represents a farm in which QREC were isolated from at least one calf. ¹Breeds; STN: Blacksided Trønder and Nordland Cattle STN, NRF: Norwegian Red ² Hygiene score; 1: clean 2: intermediate 3: dirty ³ Sluice; 1: absent 2: excellent 3: good 4: insufficient. ^eQREC isolated from the environmental samples.

Farm	Type of	Milking	Mean milk	Heard	Predominant	Hygiene	Sluice	Cleaning	Methods of
cat.	production	system	yield (kg of	size	breed ¹	score ²	3	detergent	ensilation
			ECM/cow-yr)						
He	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	11552	50	NRFxHolstein	2	4	Water only	Sil-All®
H	Nonorganic	AMS	10700	17,5	NRF	2	3	Water only	Sil-All®
H	Nonorganic	AMS	10761	43,6	NRF	1	3	Water only	Formic acid
H	Nonorganic	AMS	11147	65	Holstein	2	4	Soap	Sil-All® and
									formic acid
He	Nonorganic	AMS	11552	69	NRF	2	2	Water only	Sil-All® and
									formic acid
Н	Nonorganic	Loose housing	11661	34	NRFxHolstein	3	3	Water only	Formic acid
Н	Nonorganic	Loose housing	11416	40	NRFxHolstein	1	3	Water only	Sil-All®
Н	Nonorganic	AMS	10929	35	NRFxHolstein	1	2	Water only	No additives
H	Nonorganic	AMS	11091	50	Holstein	1	2	Water only	Formic acid
H	Nonorganic	AMS	10866	50	Mixed breeds	1	2	Water only	Formic acid
L	Organic	Tie stalls	4471	11	STN	2	1	Hydrated	No additives
								lime	
L	Organic	Tie stalls	3486	15	Mixed breeds	1	3	Water only	No additives
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4637	19	NRF	3	4	Virkon S	No additives
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4562	20	Mixed breeds	2	1	Soap	No additives
L	Organic	Loose housing	4173	8	STN	2	2	Water only	Sil-All®
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	3702	18	Mixed breeds	2	3	Water only	Formic acid
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4328	18	NRF	3	3	Water only	Formic acid
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4652	15	NRF	2	1	Water only	Formic acid
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4417	12	NRF	2	1	Water only	No additives
L	Nonorganic	Tie stalls	4515	17	NRF	1	2	Virkon S	Formic acid

4.2 Study II

4.2.1 Prevalence of QREC

During Study II, faecal samples were taken from 12 animals (six cows and their calves) from two different farms at seven different time points. Of 84 samples, 22.6% (19/84) were QREC positive. Of the faecal samples from calves, 31% (13/42) were QREC positive, whereas 14.3% (6/42) of the samples from cows were QREC positive. QREC were isolated at least once from every calf and cow during the study period, except from one adult cow. The occurrences of QREC in calves and cows at a farm level coincided. The prevalence of QREC

at each time point changed over time from 0 to 66.7% of sampled animals at Farm I and 0 to 83.3% of sampled animals at Farm II. Faecal samples from cohabiting calves were found to be simultaneously QREC positive before returning to QREC-negative status. This contrasted with the cows, where only one cow was found to shed QREC at each time point (without one sampling at one farm) (Figure 4.4). Within-sample prevalence was less than 0.01% for all QREC-positive cows, whereas the prevalence in calves ranged from < 0.01% to 13.1% (median 0.061%).

The pattern of QREC shedding from calves and cows was markedly different between the two farms in Study II. At Farm I, QREC were only found at two out of seven time points, compared to five out of seven occasions at Farm II. At Farm I, a generally high within-sample prevalence of clinically resistant QREC was found in faecal samples from all three calves and one of the cows within the first week postpartum. After this time, QREC were only detected once in faeces sampled from a cow in its thirteenth week postpartum. In contrast, most individuals at Farm II were found to carry QREC for the first time during the seventh week postpartum. After this time, a gradual decline of QREC-positive animals was identified in Farm II.

No significant decline in the occurrence of QREC over time was detected for these two farms (Spearman's rank correlation coefficient 0.109, p-value = 0.8159). Thus, for the two farms in Study II, QREC shedding did not correlate with the age of the calf.



Figure 4.4 QREC occurrence in faecal samples from calves and cows postpartum. The two farms are visualised separately, Farm I above and Farm II below the broad line. Red-coloured calves/cows symbolise QREC isolates detected in a faecal sample from the individual. A green line is used at the time points when QREC were not detected. Abbreviation: ARES: CiNalAmpSuTcTm, BRES: CiNalAmpTc CRES: CiNalAmpChlSuTc, DRES: CipNalAmpChlSuTc, XRES: isolate not MIC-tested.

4.2.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

All QREC isolates had MIC values for ciprofloxacin between 0.25 mg/L and >8 mg/L, with a median of 8 mg/L. *E. coli* isolates conferring a high-level of clinical resistance against quinolones (MIC for ciprofloxacin of 8 mg/L) were found at both farms.

The same phenotypic resistance profile dominated at both farms. At Farm I, this phenotypic resistance pattern was found between cows and calves on the same day of sampling (week 1 postpartum). Antibiotic resistance was found against ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, and tetracycline, (CiNalAmpSuTcTm) and all isolates had an MIC for ciprofloxacin of 8 mg/L and nalidixic acid above 128 mg/L. No additional QREC were isolated from these calves during the sampling period; however, QREC were found in samples from one cow on week thirteen postpartum.

CipNalAmpSuTcTm was also the major resistance pattern identified in QREC isolated from faecal samples at Farm II. As at Farm I, the MIC values of these isolates were 8 mg/L for ciprofloxacin and over 128 mg/L for nalidixic acid. This dominant phenotypic pattern was isolated multiple times from both cows and calves at Farm II. In addition to this dominant phenotype, another phenotype was identified in samples from two calves at the third and thirteenth weeks postpartum, respectively. This phenotype showed the resistance pattern CipNalAmpChlSuTc and demonstrated MIC values for ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid of 0.25 mg/L and 128 mg/L, respectively. Finally, a QREC isolate showing a narrower phenotypic resistance pattern, CipNalAmpTc, and with MIC values for ciprofloxacin and nalidixic acid of 0.25 mg/L and 8 mg/L, respectively, was found in a faecal sample from a cow from Farm II on week 3.

4.2.3 Dissemination and genetic diversity of QREC

Mutations in the *gyrA* gene were identified in QREC isolates from Study II by Sanger sequencing. In total, 88.9% of the isolates were found to carry double mutations at positions S83L and D87N. All isolates with this double mutation had MIC values of 8 mg/L for ciprofloxacin and >128 mg/L for nalidixic acid. 11.1% had a single mutation in S83L and were found to have a lower MIC (0.25 mg/L) for ciprofloxacin while their MICs for nalidixic acid varied (8 mg/L and 128 mg/L). Double mutations were found at both farms, while isolates with only single mutations were detected at Farm II at the third and thirteen weeks of sampling, both in calves and in a cow.

The six isolates selected for WGS could demonstrate the within-farm transmission of a successful genotype (Figure 4.5). In Farm I, the same sequence type (ST744) carrying multiple identical mutations in the *gyrA* gene (S83L and D87N) and the *parC* gene (S581) were isolated from all positive calves and a cow in the first week of sampling. However, a different sequence type (ST1609) with only a single mutation in the *gyrA* gene (D87G) was identified from the positive calf on week five postpartum. This isolate showed a MIC value for quinolones below the cut-off for QREC and is, in consequence, not included in Figure 4.4. The sequence type detected at Farm II (ST58) was different from the sequence types detected at Farm I (ST744, ST1609). This QREC isolate originated from a cow with lower MIC values for quinolones compared to other QREC isolates from the same farm. In this isolate, point mutations were identified within the *qnrS1* and *marR* genes, and no mutations were found in

54

the *gyrA* gene by MLST. The same isolate was found with a mutation in gyrA (S83L) by Sanger sequencing.



Figure 4.5 Mutations in QRDR-associated genes were identified by whole-genome sequencing of six QREC isolates. The figure specifies the point mutations within *gyrA* (D87G, D87N, and S82L) and *parC* (S57T, S58I, S80I); otherwise, mutations are visualised at a gene level for *gyrB*, *marR*, and *qnrS1*. The figure demonstrates within-farm transmission of a successful genotype isolated from both cow and calves, with changes in sequence type over time. Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance was detected in an isolate (*qnrS1*); this isolate was found with a mutation in *gyrA* (S83L) by Sanger sequencing but no mutation in QRDR by MLST. The colours correlate with the MIC value for ciprofloxacin. The relatedness of isolates is displayed as a minimum spanning tree based on multi-locus sequence typing (MLST).

5. Discussion

The primary objective of this study was to increase the understanding of the occurrence of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* (QREC) from cattle despite negligible quinolone usage for cattle treatment and, further, to investigate whether farm management with a focus on intensity influences the occurrence of QREC. In addition, this study aimed to gain a further understanding of QREC dynamics within the farm by studying transmission from cow to calf and general QREC occurrences over a period of time. The results demonstrate the occurrence of QREC in Norwegian dairy farms despite a long history of low quinolone usage in the veterinary treatment of cattle.

5.1 Prevalence of QREC

In Norway, the occurrence of QREC in cattle is less than 1% (Kaspersen et al., 2018). In the present two studies, QREC were identified in 9.8% of all faecal samples. However, in most samples, QREC were only found in a low proportion compared to the total number of *E. coli* isolated. This result could indicate a general low count of QREC within the bovine intestinal microflora. Yet some individuals showed a markedly higher prevalence. The farm with the highest within-sample prevalence of QREC had an average of 11.5% QREC among the total *E. coli* isolated from the faecal samples. This could indicate that QREC in the microbiome poses a real threat to animal and human health should the selective pressure increase.

5.2 Farm intensity

Farm intensity in relation to QREC occurrence was investigated in Study I. Farm intensity was measured as the average milk yield at the farm level. There was a significantly higher occurrence of QREC among the group classified as high-intensive farms. Herd size was found to diverge between the low- and high-intensive farms. Increasing herd size has been described as related to AMR occurrence (Bosman et al., 2014, de Verdier et al., 2012, Rebelo, 2014).

Thus, the differences in herd sizes observed in this study might impact the validity of the results, and they highlight the importance of interpreting the results with care.

QREC isolated from high-intensive farms were mainly (except for a single isolate) multidrugresistant, compared to QREC detected in low-intensive farms that only showed reduced susceptibility to quinolones. Mutations in *gyrA* and *parC* were detected in isolates from both high- and low-intensive farms. The presence of double mutations in *gyrA*, together with a mutation in *parC*, conferred high-level resistance against quinolones (MIC for ciprofloxacin 8 mg/L). Such high-level resistance was, however, only detected in one farm categorised as a high-intensive farm. To date, the QRDR mutations in *gyrA* and *parC* have only been shown to be acquired by gradual stepwise clonal evolution (Tchesnokova et al., 2019). It could therefore be hypothesised that the farm with high-level quinolone resistance was exposed to higher selection pressure.

Interestingly, in antimicrobial sensitivity testing, *E. coli* colonies grown on selective ciprofloxacin-containing agar were found to be sensitive to ciprofloxacin. This phenomenon was dominating among multiple low-intensive farms. None of the *E. coli* isolates from these farms had mutations in QRDR (data not shown). Sub-inhibitory fluoroquinolone exposure has been found to facilitate low-level quinolone resistance with no causative changes in QRDR, which could explain the present finding (Bai et al., 2012, Boos et al., 2001., Davies et al., 1999, Grkovic et al., 2002). However, if ciprofloxacin-containing agar exposes *E. coli* to sub-inhibitory fluoroquinolone levels, then similar results should have been present in both study groups. It is also possible that organic material from the faecal samples could promote bacterial growth despite the selective pressure. Nevertheless, the detection of multiple QRDR mutations at both low- and high-intensive farms implies the existence of unknown drivers of a stepwise mutation in both study groups.

5.3 Management factors

Feed composition and forage-to-concentrate ratio are known to be the most important factors in increasing milk yield (Volden, 2020). A high concentrate level is associated with high milk yield, defined as high farm intensity in this study. There is no exact definition for the degree of farm intensity, although milk yield is an easily categorised variable that correlates with input factors such as concentrate. The concentrate is mainly based on starch, which contains easily fermentable carbohydrates. The rumen microbiome produces a high level of short fatty acids from carbohydrates, which results in low rumen pH, in turn inhibiting the growth of some acid-sensitive rumen bacteria (Wang et al., 2020). QREC strains are found to be more resistant to acids and better than quinolone-susceptible strains at using the gut's primary nutrient source (Lastours et al., 2014). Therefore, it is tempting to speculate that the higher prevalence of QREC identified in the high-intensive group is driven by the high concentrate level causing acidic conditions in the rumen that promote the selection of QREC.

Another potential hypothesis could involve the amount of soy added to the feed, which increases in parallel with concentrate levels (Felleskjøpet, 2020). The soy plant has been used for medicinal purposes for millennia and is known for its high levels of secondary plant metabolites, including isoflavones and saponins. The isoflavones are known to have bioactivity that exhibits antimicrobial activity against Gram-negative bacteria (Cowan et al., 1999, Omosa et al., 2013, Sugiyama et al., 2019) by targeting topoisomerases I and II. In addition, isoflavones are found to mimic the effect of ciprofloxacin against bacterial strains (Abreu et al., 2017). Their antibacterial activity has been suggested to originate from a molecular structure comparable to quinolones; however, the exact relationship between chemical structure and isoflavonoid activity is not fully understood (Wu et al., 2013).

As previously discussed, sub-MIC levels of ciprofloxacin are found to give rise to mutations in QRDR (Wang et al., 2010). It could be hypothesised that a molecule with a similar structure, such as isoflavones, could trigger the same SOS response and induce mutations in QRDR. In both high- and low-intensive farms in Study I, soy was included as an ingredient in the concentrate (data not shown). The amount of soy was likely higher in the high-intensive farms since the forage-to-concentrate ratio is the single most crucial factor to increase milk yield. This could be an explanatory factor for the increased occurrence among high-intensive farms.

5.4 Periodical and coinciding occurrences of QREC

A generally high within-sample prevalence of clinically resistant QREC was found in faecal

samples from calves compared to their postpartum cows. Also, postpartum cows were less likely to carry QREC than their calves. Given that calves and cows are exposed to the same environmental microbiome on the farm, the generally lower prevalence of QREC in cows could probably be due to age-dependent colonisation factors. Neonatal ruminates function as monogastric animals. Digestive enzymes transition the calves from being monogastric to being ruminant animals, which could hypothetically impact the ability of QREC to adhere and colonise the gut.

The results indicate co-occurrence of QREC in cattle at a farm level, regardless of age, within this three-month sampling period. While Farm I had a high prevalence of QREC shortly after birth, most individuals at Farm II were QREC positive for the first time during the seventh week postpartum. The co-occurrence may indicate transmission of QREC at the farm level and could suggest that factors other than age alone affect QREC occurrence in the first three months postpartum. This contrasts with comparable studies which have found a significant decline in QREC shedding with age (Berge et al., 2005, Brunton et al., 2014, Donaldson et al., 2006, Duse et al., 2015, Hinton et al., 1985, Hoyle et al., 2004, Watson et al., 2012). Thus, our results strengthen the theory that environmental and management factors affect QREC shedding from ruminants. However, considering our study population size, this result should be interpreted with care.

The pattern of QREC occurrence varied greatly between these two farms. It could be hypothesised that the calves' microbial colonisation conditions varied greatly. Farm I is a conventional farm where calves and cows are separated shortly after birth and placed in separate rooms (data not shown). This diverges from Farm II, an organic farm (data not shown) where calves and cows are kept together for at least three days as required by national regulations for organic farming (Økologiforskriften, 2017). Calves that are separated from their mothers immediately after birth develop less-diverse microbiomes and are thus more susceptible to invasion by unwanted bacteria, such as pathogenic bacteria and QREC.

The primary limitation of this longitudinal observational study is the low number of individuals included, which has made it challenging to apply the results to a larger population. The sampling was performed at two farms, with a total of 12 animals sampled every second week for three months. The limited number of farms made it possible for one person to conduct the sampling, increasing the reproducibility. Similar longitudinal studies screening

for QREC occurrence have been performed in other countries (Berge et al., 2005, Brunton et al., 2014, Duse et al., 2015, Hinton et al., 1985, Hoyle et al., 2004, Watson et al., 2012), where higher occurrences of QREC were found in young animals as compared to adults, which affirms our results even with a small study population.

5.5 Within-farm transmission

The results of the phenotypic antibiotic sensitivity testing, sequence typing, and phylogenetic analysis of the isolated QREC indicate a strong correlation between the QREC isolated within the farms in both studies. Thus, these results indicate possible clonal transmission at the farm level and could strengthen the theory that management factors at the farm level are triggers for quinolone resistance.

The majority of identified STs were unique for each farm. The high diversity between farms could indicate that drivers for quinolone resistance are found at the farm level. Similar phenotypic resistance patterns were mainly observed in QREC isolated from the same individual at different time points in Study II, although diversity was observed. The changes in QREC genotypes in an individual over time may indicate a persistent driving factor affecting the intestinal commensal bacteria. Another explanation could be a naturally occurring diversity of QREC within the farm, and the individual animals, which the isolation of a single bacterial colony from each sample taken would not reflect. A single QREC isolate was selected from each individual at each time point, which does not capture the microbial diversity of the faecal content. The *E. coli* population in the GI tract is numerous, and only a small proportion of the total *E. coli* population is present in the faecal sample (Hinton et al., 1985). This is a significant challenge when drawing conclusions based on the susceptibility of a single, random *E. coli* sample from a calf or a cow. Nevertheless, other studies also have described one major QREC genotype as dominating in a herd (Duse et al., 2016, Hoyle et al., 2005).

5.6 Farm environment

QREC were isolated from environmental samples in two out of twenty farms, with both farms belonging to the high-intensive group. The STs were similar for QREC isolated from the environment and calves, which could indicate an environmental source and contamination of the farm environment. Previous publications have found contaminated environments to increase the dissemination rate of QREC and have established clonal dissemination of QREC strains within farms to be facilitated by poor farm hygiene (Bosman et al., 2014, Duse et al., 2015). However, in this study, QREC were isolated from farms with *clean* or *intermediate* hygiene scores, while no QREC were identified in the farms scored as *dirty*. Our results could indicate that management factors other than farm hygiene could be drivers of QREC transmission within the farm. The study population size could also have affected the results. The environmental samples represent a limited area of the total farm environment, which could have led to under-estimating the occurrence of QREC in the farm environment. Loose housing compared to tie-stall housing increases the intermingling of animals, the dissemination of one strain of E. coli to another place in the farm, and the contact between donors and potential recipients. Nevertheless, it is worth mentioning that the farm with the highest within-farm and within-sample prevalence of QREC had a tie-stall system. This could indicate that farm housing is inferior to other factors impacting QREC occurrence in a specific farm.

The farm environment, including fields and grazing areas, could be exposed to wild mammals, birds, or human wastewater that could be potential sources of quinolones. Low levels of ciprofloxacin in the environment have been found to select for resistance (Gullberg et al., 2011). Research conducted in Norway within the last few years isolated QREC through the environmental sampling of wastewater (Paulshus et al., 2019). Additionally, the usage of quinolones for the treatment of both animals and humans could constitute a risk for QREC occurrence within the cattle production chain.

The STs found in our study indicate similarities with isolates from other species in Norway and suggest a possible interaction between wildlife and anthropogenic sources. Birds as a vector in QREC shedding have been a focus globally (Carlson et al., 2020, Chandler et al., 2020, Medhanie et al., 2016), and wild birds have been included in recent Norwegian studies (Kaspersen et al., 2018, Mjelde and Kallbekken 2020). The main QREC resistance phenotype

61

found in the present study demonstrates resistance to ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, and trimethoprim (CiNalAmpSuTcTm). This is the same phenotypic resistance pattern found in wild geese in Norway and could indicate a possible successful clone/resistance pattern. Mjelde and Kallbekken (2020) found ST162 to be the most phenotypically resistant ST among wild geese in Norway. ST162 has also been found in broiler chickens and red foxes in Norway (Kaspersen et al., 2018). This agrees with isolates from our study, among which a total of eight calves and one environmental sample were found to have ST162. Wild mammals, particularly birds, could act as transporters or as reservoirs for QREC and therefore have important epidemiological roles in its transmission. Apparently, wild mammals account for some QREC transmission. Still, the diverging genotypes between farms could support the theory that farm management factors are important explanatory factors for QREC occurrence in the dairy population.

5.7 Clinical resistance and a One Health perspective

In both studies, high-level quinolone resistance was detected in *E. coli* from farm environments, calves, and cows. Additionally, all but three QREC isolates were found to be multidrug-resistant. Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance was detected in one sample. To the author's knowledge, PMQR has not been previously isolated from cattle in Norway. However, the transfer of a coliform bacteria with a multidrug-resistant plasmid of bovine origin to a human in a farm environment has been documented in Norway (Oppegaard et al., 2001).

While a low-level resistance to ciprofloxacin demonstrating a MIC below clinical cut-off (0.5 mg/L) was found in Study I, most QREC isolates found in this research project showed MIC values above the clinical breakpoint for ciprofloxacin resistance. The diverging level of farm prevalence of QREC and the occurrence of high-level quinolone resistance highlights the importance of increasing our knowledge about quinolone resistance in livestock. Cattle, as carriers of zoonotic bacterial strains and non-pathogenic strains carrying resistance genes, pose a risk for the horizontal transfer of quinolone resistance from cattle to humans (Orden et al., 1999, Marshall et al., 2011, Todorović et al., 2018). Dairy cattle are unique because they may be sources of QREC contamination through milk, meat, direct contact with humans, and manure-fertilised plants. It can be assumed that higher proportions of antimicrobial-resistant

E. coli on a farm increase the risk of their spreading to humans.

5.8 Methodological considerations

5.8.1 Study design

Study I was a cross-sectional study, whereas Study II was a longitudinal observational study. The study population for Study I originated from the general dairy cattle population based on farms that participated in NDHRS, which includes 97.5% of all dairy farms in Norway. The farms in Study II were chosen by their proximity to the laboratory facilities. Inclusion criteria were based on the number of calves and the milk yield. Only farms within five counties were included in Study I. A minimum exclusion criteria increases the external validity (Pannucci et al., 2011). While the external validity for Study I is believed to be strong, a lower validity was estimated for Study II. Nevertheless, Study II's inclusion criteria made the targeted population small and, as a result, increased its internal validity. For Study II, the geographical area was limited, and only farms with three or more calvings were included within the second week of January. The high amount of calving likely excluded small herds.

A cross-sectional study is a good option for monitoring and detecting prevalence, but the study design will be highly affected by the incidence of the diseases (Setia et al., 2016). A low occurrence of QREC could have a biasing effect. With a low incidence, the estimated sample size should be larger to obtain sufficient power for the statistical analysis. For our cross-sectional study, we collected 233 faecal samples from 20 farms. The sample size required was estimated based on a power analysis to give an adequate statistical power of 0.8 (Table 3.3).

There was a notable difference in response rate between high- and low-intensive farms. The lower response rate among low-intensive farms could have produced sampling bias. An important aspect worth mentioning is that the small herd sizes found among the low-intensive farms reduced the number of calves available for sampling below the original exclusion criterion. Calves from a wider age range were included from the low-intensive group, which could have affected the results.

5.8.2 Sampling procedure and susceptibility testing

A pilot study was run during autumn 2017 to gain valuable calibrations and knowledge for the main study. To avoid possible bias, only one person conducted the sampling. Despite only having one person sampling and collecting all data, subjective bias could have occurred, mainly when qualitative data were obtained. Qualitative data were collected using the questionnaire, in which hygiene and sluice gate quality could have been particularly affected by subjective bias.

EFSA has recommended monitoring the prevalence of resistant bacteria using a "single sample per farm" approach. This approach assumes that isolates from the same farm show similar resistance patterns due to a common environmental microbiota. The dynamics of QREC occurrence in Norwegian dairy herds is a novel research area, and we aimed to understand within-sample prevalence better. Based on this aim, we sampled up to 15 calves at each farm, which reduced the total number of farms we could include in our study. Since only one QREC colony was isolated from each sample and further genotyped, the potential diversity of QREC STs in each individual's microbiota was likely overlooked. However, our results showed that a lower number of calves is probably sufficient to determine the farm-level status of QREC, in line with the recommendation from EFSA (EFSA, 2014).

We used ciprofloxacin-selective plates where multiple isolates were tested simultaneously, with an antimicrobial concentration based upon the epidemiological cut-off for resistance issued by EUCAST. The repeated-measure design of Study II allowed us to demonstrate a general trend present within the cohort. We observed the growth of isolates on selective agar, which were found quinolone sensitive after MIC testing. This phenomenon raises questions about the method used, even though we adopted the same standard for sampling and susceptibility testing described by the Norwegian Surveillance Programme for Antimicrobial Resistance (The Norwegian Veterinary Institute, 2017).

The inclusion criteria of the present studies included milk yield, location, and the number of calves during the sampling period. However, the history of quinolones at the farm level was not obtained. Quinolones are still available for selling and treating food-producing animals in Norway. Although the total sales of quinolones in Norway are low, a veterinarian can freely prescribe unlimited amounts of the drugs for use in their practice, making it possible to have

hotspots of quinolone usage in specific areas. Hence, regional differences in quinolone usage in Norway could have impacted our results.

5.9 Generalizability

This research provides information about QREC occurrence in Norway but may also be of global interest. Our study population is too small to determine the occurrence for the entire Norwegian dairy population. The higher occurrence of QREC among highly intensive farms as compared to low-intensive farms should be interpreted with care. However, our findings indicate clonal transmission of QREC and a high diversity of QREC genotypes within the population. Our results are strengthened by being comparable to other studies. In contrast to similar studies, our results indicate factors other than age as important drivers for QREC occurrence, but these conclusions require further research before a conclusion can be made. A general interpretation of our results could be made in the context of current research conducted in Norway over the last few years.

6. Conclusions

- QREC occurrence was more abundant in farms defined as high-intensive
- At the farm level, QREC co-occurred in cattle regardless of age, suggesting dissemination between animals
- Calves carried a higher within-sample prevalence of QREC in faecal samples compared to their postpartum cows.
- The results suggest that loose housing systems and using formic acid as a feed conservator could be potential risk factors for QREC occurrence.
- QREC isolates were mainly multidrug-resistant; the most common phenotype showed resistance against ciprofloxacin, nalidixic acid, ampicillin, sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim and tetracycline.
- High levels of clinically resistant QREC isolates with a ciprofloxacin MIC of 8 mg/L were identified at multiple farms. Generally, a low-level quinolone resistance was dominating.
- Mutations in QRDR were identified in *gyrA* (S83L, D87N, D87Y, D87G), *parC* (S57T, S58I), and in the regulatory gene *marR*. No mutations were detected in *gyrB* and *parE*.
- Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance, with a mutation in *qnrS1*, was detected in one isolate from an adult cow. The same isolate was found with a low level of quinolone resistance.
- A clonal distribution of QREC isolated from calves, cows, and the farm environment was identified. The results do not indicate a clonal distribution between farms, suggest dissemination mainly at a farm level.

7. Further perspectives

Quinolone resistance found in the animal production chain is essential in the *One Health* perspective. It needs attention, as quinolones are one of the four highly prioritised, critically important antimicrobials for global human medicine. The antimicrobial class of quinolones is classified as Category B by the European Medicine Agency (EMA); restricting the use of antibiotics in this category is critically important for human medicine, and their application in veterinary medicine should be restricted to mitigate the risk to public health. A veterinarian may freely prescribe an unlimited amount of the drug in their practice, which makes it possible to generate hotspots of quinolone use in specific areas. In Norway, the National Service publishes antimicrobial usage in the human health service at a regional level (https://www.antibiotika.no/kas/). A similar regional reporting of antimicrobial use among farm-animal veterinarians could make room for discussion and improve antimicrobial prescription in the veterinary sector.

It will be of future interest to screen for the occurrence of co-resistance. Multiple studies have analysed the occurrence of co-resistance between fluoroquinolones and extended-spectrum ß-lactamases (ESBLs) in *Enterobacteriaceae* from humans. ESBLs are enzymes that cause resistance to some of the most used antibiotics, including penicillin, cephalosporins, and monobactams (Hu et al., 2019). Co-occurrence with ESBL has also been detected in bacteria isolated from cattle (Aguilar-Montes et al., 2015). Although it is documented to have a relatively low frequency in cattle compared to other animal species, it could be of interest for public health to know more about the presence of co-occurrence with quinolone resistance.

To dive deeper into the occurrence of QREC in cattle, it could be relevant to use a retrospective study to examine a population of farms where QREC demonstrating high clinical resistance have been detected. Antibiotic prescription practices at the farm level should then be acquired. By tracking QREC dynamics over a more extended period, for example, a year, one could potentially highlight different management variables as potential drivers for quinolone resistance, including the bird migration period.

More research is needed to understand the dynamics of antibiotic resistance in the normal faecal microbiota of cattle. Metagenomic next-generation sequencing is now easily available

and could give further insight into the diversity of the resistome, potentially connecting feeding regimes or other potential drivers of resistance development to QREC occurrence.

8. Populærvitenskapelig oppsummering

Utfordringene med økt forekomst av antibiotikaresistens har nådd alarmerende høye nivåer. Antibiotika benyttes for å behandle bakterieinfeksjoner hos mennesker og dyr. Bakteriene kan bli motstandsdyktige, utvikle resistens, mot antibiotika. Motstandsdyktige bakterier kan gi store utfordringer ved behandling av infeksjoner. Antibiotikaresistens er en naturlig forsvarsmekanisme hos bakteriene som beskytter de mot andre bakterier og også andre komponenter som finnes i for eksempel planter eller sopp.

Antibiotikaresistente bakterier hos dyr kan overføres til mennesker via direkte kontakt eller matvarer som melk og kjøtt. Kolibakterier er en naturlig del av tarmfloraen hos dyr og mennesker, og utgjør vanligvis ingen skade, men de kan gi sykdom hos svake individer. *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) er en av kolibakteriene. Kolibakteriene kan være resistente mot mange typer antibiotika.

Verdens helseorganisasjon (WHO) har kategorisert hvilke antibiotika som er aller viktigst å spare til behandling av kritisk syke mennesker, og kinoloner er en av de fire viktigste antibiotikum for behandling av menneske. Bruken av kinoloner til behandling av dyr i Norge anses som ubetydelig lav på et nasjonalt nivå. Likevel har det blitt funnet kinolonresistente *E. coli* (QREC) i avføring til flere av produksjonsdyrene i Norge, deriblant storfe. Årsaken til dette er ikke kjent. Målet med denne studien var derfor å se nærmere på forekomst av kinolonresistente bakterier i norske melkekubesetninger, se nærmere på hvordan bakteriene spres i miljøet og undersøke mulige risikofaktorer som kan øke denne forekomsten. Samtidig studerte vi forekomst av kinolonresistens fra kalv og melkekyr de første tre månedene etter kalving. Unge kalver er nemlig kjent for å ha mer resistente bakterier i tarm enn eldre storfe, selv uten at de har vært behandlet med antibiotika. Vi fulgte opp de samme kalvene over tid for å danne en bedre forståelse av når QREC først oppdages i avføring hos kalvene, og om det var et gitt tidspunkt de reduserte utskillelsen.

I dette studiet ble det funnet høyere forekomst av kinolonresistens i besetninger med høy produksjonsintensitet. QREC ble funnet i avføringsprøvene fra 13.3% av kalvene fra gårder som drev en intensiv melkeproduksjon, i motsetning ble QREC funnet blant 2.8% av kalvene fra lav-intensive gårder. Det ble funnet kinolonresistens i både båsfjøs og løsdriftsfjøs. Renhold så ikke ut til å ha en direkte sammenheng med forekomst. Kalvene som ble fulgt opp over tid hadde høyere forekomst av kinolonresistente *E. coli* enn mødrene og det var en stor sammenheng i forekomst hos kalvene innad på den samme gården. Innenfor besetningene hadde stort sett både voksne kyr, kalver og prøvene fra fjøsmiljøet de samme typene av resistente bakterier. Imellom gårdene var det stort sett forskjellige typer resistente bakterier som ble funnet. Det betyr at smitten skjer innad på gården og i mindre grad mellom gårdene. Bakteriene som ble funnet på en av gårdene kan ligne på de samme som er funnet fra ville fugler, rev og kylling i andre studier gjort i Norge. Ville dyr og fugler, spesielt trekkfugler som reservoar og smitteutskillere av QREC er beskrevet av andre som en mulig risikofaktor for smitte til husdyr.

Det ble funnet bakterier i flere besetninger med en høy grad av kinolonresistens, som betyr at det må høye doser antibiotika til for å drepe bakterien ved en eventuell behandling. De fleste bakteriene hvor kinolonresistens ble oppdaget var multiresistente, altså var bakterien resistent mot flere enn tre forskjellige antibiotika. Disse funnene var aktuelle både for høy-intensive gårder og individene vi fulgte opp over tid. I lave-intensive gårder ble ingen multiresistente bakterier funnet, kun bakterier som var resistente mot kinoloner.

Forekomsten av multiresistente bakterier i fjøsmiljøet kan utgjøre en utfordring for folkehelsen. Videre innsamling av data og forskning på emnet blir viktig i tiden fremover. Resistens mot kinoloner er meldepliktig i Norge i dag. Det nasjonale overvåkningssystemet for bruk av antibiotika og forekomst av resistente bakterier hos både mennesker og dyr er et viktig verktøy i arbeidet mot mer målretta bruk av antibiotika og bekjempelse av antibiotikaresistens for fremtiden. Det er et søkelys på riktig bruk av antibiotika til produksjonsdyr og handlingsplaner er etablert for å redusere bruken ytterligere. Ved å tillate regionale oversikter over antibiotikaforbruk i produksjonsdyrpraksis på lik linje med forbruket til menneske kan eventuelle overforbruk i enkelte området identifiseres. Dette kan gi grunnlag for en diskusjonsplattform med mål om ytterligere forbedret forskrivingsrutiner.

70

References

Aarnes, H. (Ed.) (2020). Forsvar mot å bli spist.

- Abreu, A. C., Coqueiro, A., Sultan, A. R., Lemmens, N., Kim, H. K., Verpoorte, R., Choi, Y. H. (2017). Looking to nature for a new concept in antimicrobial treatments: isoflavonoids from *Cytisus striatus* as antibiotic adjuvants against MRSA. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 3777-3777. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-03716-7
- Aguilar-Montes de Oca, S., Talavera-Rojas, M., Soriano-Vargas, E., Barba-León, J., & Vazquez-Navarrete, J. (2015). Determination of extended spectrum β-lactamases/AmpC β-lactamases and plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates obtained from bovine carcasses in Mexico. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 47(5), 975-981. doi:10.1007/s11250-015-0818-3
- An, R., Alshalchi, S., Breimhurst, P., Munoz-Aguayo, J., Flores-Figueroa, C., & Vidovic, S. (2017). Strong influence of livestock environments on the emergence and dissemination of distinct multidrug-resistant phenotypes among the population of non-typhoidal *Salmonella*. *Plos one* 12(6), e0179005. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0179005
- Anita Idel, Verena Fehlenberg, & Reichert, T. (2013). Livestock production and food security in a context of climate change, and environmental and health challenges. *Germanwatch*. Retrieved from https://germanwatch.org/sites/default/files/publication/10549.pdf
- Awosile, B., German, G., Rodriguez-Lecompte, J. C., Saab, M. E., Heider, L. C., & McClure, J. T. (2018). Determination of antimicrobial resistance to extended-spectrum cephalosporin, quinolones, and vancomycin in selected human enteric pathogens from Prince Edward Island, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 64(7), 473-482. doi:10.1139/cjm-2018-0014
- Bai, H., Du, J.-f., Hu, M., Qi, J., Cai, Y.-n., Niu, W.-w., & Liu, Y.-q. (2012). Analysis of mechanisms of resistance and tolerance of *Escherichia coli* to enrofloxacin. *Annals of Microbiology - Ann Microbiolog*, 62. doi:10.1007/s13213-011-0260-3
- Baker, S., Duy, P. T., Nga, T. V. T., Dung, T. T. N., Phat, V. V., Chau, T. T., Boni, M. F. (2013). Fitness benefits in fluoroquinolone-resistant *Salmonella Typhi* in the absence of antimicrobial pressure. *eLife*, 2, e01229-e01229. doi:10.7554/eLife.01229
- Baquero, F. (2001). Low-level antibacterial resistance: a gateway to clinical resistance. *Drug Resist Updat, 4*(2), 93-105. doi:10.1054/drup.2001.0196
- Baquero, M.-R., Nilsson Annika, I., del Carmen Turrientes, M., Sandvang, D., Galán Juan, C., Martínez Jose, L., Andersson Dan, I. (2004). Polymorphic Mutation Frequencies in *Escherichia coli*: Emergence of Weak Mutators in Clinical Isolates. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186(16), 5538-5542. doi:10.1128/JB.186.16.5538-5542.2004
- Berge, A. C. B., Atwill, E. R., & Sischo, W. M. (2005). Animal and farm influences on the dynamics of antibiotic resistance in faecal *Escherichia coli* in young dairy calves. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 69(1), 25-38. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2005.01.013
- Bjørkhaug, H., R. Almås & J. Vik (red). (2015). A-19/15 Strukturelle og institusjonelle endringsprosesser i den norske melkesektoren. Norsk matmakt i endring. Fagbokforlaget.
- Boos, M., Mayer, S., Fischer, A., Köhrer, K., Scheuring, S., Heisig, P., Schmitz, F. J. (2001). In vitro development of resistance to six quinolones in *Streptococcus pneumoniae, Streptococcus pyogenes*, and *Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 45(3), 938-942. doi:10.1128/AAC.45.3.938-942.2001
- Bosman, A. B., Wagenaar, J. A., Stegeman, J. A., Vernooij, J. C., & Mevius, D. J. (2014). Antimicrobial resistance in commensal *Escherichia coli* in veal calves is associated with antimicrobial drug use. *Epidemiol Infect*, 142(9), 1893-1904. doi:10.1017/s0950268813002665
- Brunton, L. A., Reeves, H. E., Snow, L. C., & Jones, J. R. (2014). A longitudinal field trial assessing the impact of feeding waste milk containing antibiotic residues on the prevalence of ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* in calves. *Prev Vet Med*, 117(2), 403-412. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2014.08.005
- Carlson, J. C., Chandler, J. C., Bisha, B., LeJeune, J. T., & Wittum, T. E. (2020). Bird-livestock interactions associated with increased cattle fecal shedding of ciprofloxacin-resistant *Escherichia coli* within feedlots in the United States. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 10174. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-66782-4
- Cattoir, V., & Nordmann, P. (2009). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance in gram-negative bacterial species: an update. *Curr Med Chem*, 16(8), 1028-1046. doi:10.2174/092986709787581879
- Cavaco, L., Hansen, D., Friis-Møller, A., Aarestrup, F., Hasman, H., & Frimodt-Møller, N. (2007). First detection of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance (*qnrA* and *qnrS*) in *Escherichia coli* strains isolated
from humans in Scandinavia. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, *59*, 804-805. doi:10.1093/jac/dkl554

- Chandler, J. C., Anders, J. E., Blouin, N. A., Carlson, J. C., LeJeune, J. T., Goodridge, L. D., Bisha, B. (2020). The Role of European Starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*) in the Dissemination of Multidrug-Resistant *Escherichia coli* among Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 8093. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-64544-w
- Correia, S., Poeta, P., Hébraud, M., Capelo, J. L., & Igrejas, G. (2017). Mechanisms of quinolone action and resistance: where do we stand? *J Med Microbiol*, *66*(5), 551-559. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.000475
- Cowan, M. M. (1999). Plant products as antimicrobial agents. *Clin Microbiol Rev, 12*(4), 564-582. doi:10.1128/cmr.12.4.564
- Davies, T. A., Pankuch, G. A., Dewasse, B. E., Jacobs, M. R., & Appelbaum, P. C. (1999). In vitro development of resistance to five quinolones and amoxicillin-clavulanate in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 43(5), 1177-1182. doi:10.1128/AAC.43.5.1177
- Donaldson, S. C., Straley, B. A., Hegde, N. V., Sawant, A. A., DebRoy, C., & Jayarao, B. M. (2006). Molecular Epidemiology of Ceftiofur-Resistant *Escherichia coli* isolates from Dairy Calves. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(6), 3940-3948. doi:doi:10.1128/AEM.02770-05
- Duse, A., Persson Waller, K., Emanuelson, U., Ericsson Unnerstad, H., Persson, Y., & Bengtsson, B. (2016). Occurrence and Spread of Quinolone-Resistant *Escherichia coli* on Dairy Farms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(13), 3765-3773. doi:10.1128/AEM.03061-15
- Duse, A., Waller, K. P., Emanuelson, U., Unnerstad, H. E., Persson, Y., & Bengtsson, B. (2015). Risk factors for antimicrobial resistance in fecal *Escherichia coli* from preweaned dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 98(1), 500-516. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-8432
- Dyrehelseforskriften. (2002). Forskrift om tiltak mot sjukdommer og zoonotiske agens hos dyr av 12. juli 2002 nr. 732. Retrieved from https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2002-06-27-732
- Edrington, T. S. (2012). Age and diet effects on fecalpopulations and antibiotic resistance of a multi-drug resistant *Escherichia coli in dairy calves*. *Agriculture, Food and Analytical Bacteriology, v. 2* (no.3), pp. 162-174-2012 v.2012 no.2013. Retrieved from https://handle.nal.usda.gov/10113/57362
- Edrington, T. S., Callaway, T. R., Anderson, R. C., & Nisbet, D. J. (2008). Prevalence of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella* on commercial dairies utilizing a single heifer raising facility. *J Food Prot*, 71(1), 27-34. doi:10.4315/0362-028x-71.1.27
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) and ECDC (European Centre for DiseasePrevention and Control). (2020). The European Union Summary Report on Antimicrobial Resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from humans, animals and food n 2017/2018. . FSA Journal 2020;18(3):6007, 166 pp.
- European Medicine Agency. (2021). Sales of veterinary antimicrobial agents in 31 European countries in 2019 and 2020. *Eleventh ESVAC report*.
- Fang, H., Huang, H., Shi, Y., Hedin, G., Nord, C. E., & Ullberg, M. (2009). Prevalence of *qnr* determinants among extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-positive *Enterobacteriaceae* clinical isolates in southern Stockholm, Sweden. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 34(3), 268-270. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2009.03.016
- Felleskjøpet. (2015). Soya i kraftfôr. Retrieved from https://www.felleskjopet.no/om-felleskjopet/barekraftiglandbruk-soya-og-palmeolje/soya-i-kraftfor/
- Garrido, M. N., Skjervheim, M., Oppegaard, H., & Sørum, H. (2004). Acidified litter benefits the intestinal flora balance of broiler chickens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 70(9), 5208-5213. doi:10.1128/AEM.70.9.5208-5213.2004
- Grave, K., Jensen, V. F., Odensvik, K., Wierup, M., & Bangen, M. (2006). Usage of veterinary therapeutic antimicrobials in Denmark, Norway and Sweden following termination of antimicrobial growth promoter use. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 75(1), 123-132. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2006.02.003
- Grkovic, S., Brown, M. H., & Skurray, R. A. (2002). Regulation of bacterial drug export systems. *Microbiology* and molecular biology reviews : MMBR, 66(4), 671-701. doi:10.1128/MMBR.66.4.671-701.2002
- Gullberg, E., Cao, S., Berg, O. G., Ilbäck, C., Sandegren, L., Hughes, D., & Andersson, D. I. (2011). Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. *PLOS Pathogens*, 7(7), e1002158. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002158
- Hang, B. P. T., Wredle, E., Börjesson, S., Sjaunja, K. S., Dicksved, J., & Duse, A. (2019). High level of multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* in young dairy calves in southern Vietnam. *Tropical animal health* and production, 51(6), 1405-1411. doi:10.1007/s11250-019-01820-6
- Hinton, M. (1985). The ecology of *Escherichia coli* in calves reared as dairy-cow replacements, *Volume58*, *Issue2* doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1985.tb01439.x
- Hoyle Deborah, V., Yates Catherine, M., Chase-Topping Margo, E., Turner Esther, J., Davies Sarah, E., Low, J. C. Amyes Sebastian, G. B. (2005). Molecular Epidemiology of Antimicrobial-Resistant Commensal

Escherichia coli Strains in a Cohort of Newborn Calves. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(11), 6680-6688. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.11.6680-6688.2005

- Hoyle, D. V., Knight, H. I., Shaw, D. J., Hillman, K., Pearce, M. C., Low, J. C. Woolhouse, M. E. J. (2004). Acquisition and epidemiology of antibiotic-resistant *Escherichia coli* in a cohort of newborn calves. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 53(5), 867-871. doi:10.1093/jac/dkh177
- Hu, Y. J., Ogyu, A., Cowling, B. J., Fukuda, K., & Pang, H. H. (2019). Available evidence of antibiotic resistance from extended-spectrum β-lactamase-producing *Enterobacteriaceae* in paediatric patients in 20 countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 97(7), 486-501B. doi:10.2471/BLT.18.225698
- Jacoby, G. A., Strahilevitz, J., & Hooper, D. C. (2014). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance. *Microbiology* spectrum, 2(5), 10.1128/microbiolspec.PLAS-0006-2013. doi:10.1128/microbiolspec.PLAS-0006-2013
- JE Riviere, M. P. (2018). *Veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics* (Tenth Edition ed.). Hoboken, USA: Wiley Blackwell.
- Jurado, S., Orden, J. A., Horcajo, P., De La Fuente, R., Ruiz-Santa-Quiteria, J. A., Martínez-Pulgarín, S., & Domínguez-Bernal, G. (2008). Characterization of Fluoroquinolone Resistance in *Escherichia Coli* Strains from Ruminants. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 20(3), 342-345. doi:10.1177/104063870802000314
- Kaesbohrer, A., Schroeter, A., Tenhagen, B. A., Alt, K., Guerra, B., & Appel, B. (2012). Emerging antimicrobial resistance in commensal *Escherichia coli* with public health relevance. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 59 Suppl 2, 158-165. doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2011.01451.x
- Kallbekken, & Mjelde. (2020). Multi-Resistant E. coli In Long- Distance Migratory Geese: How Greylag Geese (Anser anser) And Pink-Footed Geese (Anser brachyrhynchus) Can Act As Vectors For Antimicrobial Resistance. (Fordypningsoppgave). Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet, Adamstuen. Retrieved from https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbuxmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2656553/KallbekkenOgMjelde2020.pdf?sequence=1
- Kao, C.-Y., Wu, H.-M., Lin, W.-H., Tseng, C.-C., Yan, J.-J., Wang, M.-C., Wu, J.-J. (2016). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants in quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from patients with bacteremia in a university hospital in Taiwan, 2001–2015. *Scientific reports*, 6(1), 32281. doi:10.1038/srep32281
- Karah, N., Poirel, L., Bengtsson, S., Sundqvist, M., Kahlmeter, G., Nordmann, P., Samuelsen, Ø. (2010). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants *qnr* and *aac(6')-Ib-cr* in *Escherichia coli* and Klebsiella spp. from Norway and Sweden. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 66(4), 425-431. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2009.12.004
- Kaspersen, H., Urdahl, A. M., Simm, R., Slettemeås, J. S., Lagesen, K., & Norström, M. (2018). Occurrence of quinolone resistant *E. coli* originating from different animal species in Norway. *Vet Microbiol*, 217, 25-31. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.02.022
- Kirchner, M., Wearing, H., & Teale, C. (2011). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance gene detected in *Escherichia coli* from cattle. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 148(2), 434-435. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.08.033
- Lastours, V. d., Bleibtreu, A., Chau, F., Burdet, C., Duval, X., Denamur, E. & Fantin, B. (2014). Quinoloneresistant *Escherichia coli* from the faecal microbiota of healthy volunteers after ciprofloxacin exposure are highly adapted to a commensal lifestyle. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 69(3), pp 761– 768.
- Lim, S.-K. (2013). Transmission and Persistence of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus in Milk, Environment, and Workers in Dairy Cattle Farms. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, VOL. 10, NO. 8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2012.1436
- Lim, S.-K., Lim, K.-G., Lee, H.-S., Jung, S.-C., Kang, M.-I., & Nam, H.-M. (2010). Prevalence and Molecular Characterization of Fluoroquinolone-Resistant *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Diarrheic Cattle in Korea. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 72(5), 611-614. doi:10.1292/jvms.08-0302
- Lukás, F., Koppová, I., Kudrna, V., & Kopecný, J. (2007). Postnatal development of bacterial population in the gastrointestinal tract of calves. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, *52*(1), 99-104. doi:10.1007/bf02932147
- Marshall, B. M., & Levy, S. B. (2011). Food animals and antimicrobials: impacts on human health. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 24(4), 718-733. doi:10.1128/CMR.00002-11
- Matmerk,(2019). KSL Standaren. Retrieved from https://ksl.matmerk.no/cms/files/5154/7-melk---2018---bm.pdf
- Medhanie, G. A. (2016). The Role of European Starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*) in the Epidemiology of Zoonotic Pathogens and Antimicrobial Resistant *E. coli* in Ohio Dairy Farms.
- Meunier, D., Acar, J. F., Martel, J. L., Kroemer, S., & Vallé, M. (2004). Seven years survey of susceptibility to marbofloxacin of bovine pathogenic strains from eight European countries. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 24(3), 268-278. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2003.12.011

- Murray, A., Mather, H., Coia, J. E., & Brown, D. J. (2008). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance in nalidixicacid-susceptible strains of *Salmonella enterica* isolated in Scotland. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 62(5), 1153-1155. doi:10.1093/jac/dkn340
- Naber, K. G., & Adam, D. (1998). Classification of fluoroquinolones. Int J Antimicrob Agents, 10(4), 255-257. doi:10.1016/s0924-8579(98)00059-4
- NORM NORM-VET. (2001). Consumption of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Resistance in Norway. ISSN: 1502-2307.
- NORM NORM-VET. (2005). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307*.
- NORM/ NORM-VET. (2003). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. . *ISSN:1502-2307*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2009). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2010). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. SSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic).
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2015). sage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. . *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2016). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2018). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2019). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- NORM/NORM-VET. (2020). Usage of Antimicrobial Agents and Occurrence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Norway. *ISSN:1502-2307 (print) / 1890-9965 (electronic)*.
- Nørstebø. (2020). The applicability of milking-time testing in automatic milking systems. (Doctoral thesis). Ås. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2670913 (2020:5)
- Norwegian medicines Agency. (2012). Terapianbefaling. Bruk av antibakterielle midler til produksjonsdyr. Retrieved from www.legemiddelverket.no.
- OIE, (2021). OIE Annual Report on Antimicrobial Agents Intended for Use in Animals. Fifth Report.
- Økologiforskriften. (2017). Forskrift om økologisk produksjon og merking av økologiske landbruksprodukter, akvakulturprodukter, næringsmidler og fôr 18. mars 2017 nr 355 Retrieved from https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2017-03-18-355
- Olsson, G., Emanuelson, M., & Wiktorsson, H. (1997). Effects on milk production and health of dairy cows by feeding different ratios of concentrate/forage and additional fat before calving. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A — Animal Science*, 47(2), 91-105. doi:10.1080/09064709709362375
- Omosa, L. K., Amugune, B., Ndunda, B., Milugo, T. K., Heydenreich, M., Yenesew, A., & Midiwo, J. O. (2014). Antimicrobial flavonoids and diterpenoids from *Dodonaea angustifolia*. *South African Journal* of Botany, 91, 58-62. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2013.11.012
- Oppegaard, H., Steinum, T. M., & Wasteson, Y. (2001). Horizontal transfer of a multi-drug resistance plasmid between coliform bacteria of human and bovine origin in a farm environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(8), 3732-3734. doi:10.1128/AEM.67.8.3732-3734.2001
- Oram, M., & Fisher, L. M. (1991). 4-Quinolone resistance mutations in the DNA gyrase of *Escherichia coli* clinical isolates identified by using the polymerase chain reaction. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 35(2), 387-389. doi:10.1128/aac.35.2.387
- Orden, J. A., Ruiz-Santa-Quiteria, J. A., Cid, D., Díez, R., Martínez, S., & de la Fuente, R. (2001). Quinolone resistance in potentially pathogenic and non-pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from healthy ruminants. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 48(3), 421-424. doi:10.1093/jac/48.3.421
- Orden, J. A., Ruiz-Santa-Quiteria, J. A., García, S., Cid, D., & De La Fuente, R. (1999). *In vitro* activities of cephalosporins and quinolones against *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from diarrheic dairy calves. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 43(3), 510-513. doi:10.1128/AAC.43.3.510
- Orlén, H., & Hughes, D. (2006). Weak mutators can drive the evolution of fluoroquinolone resistance in Escherichia coli. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 50(10), 3454-3456. doi:10.1128/AAC.00783-06
- Paulshus, E., Kühn, I., Möllby, R., Colque, P., O'Sullivan, K., Midtvedt, T., Sørum, H. (2019). Diversity and antibiotic resistance among *Escherichia coli* populations in hospital and community wastewater compared to wastewater at the receiving urban treatment plant. *Water Research*, 161, 232-241. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.05.102
- Phillips, I., Culebras, E., Moreno, F., & Baquero, F. (1987). Induction of the SOS response by new 4-quinolones. J Antimicrob Chemother, 20(5), 631-638. doi:10.1093/jac/20.5.631

- Picó, Y., & Andreu, V. (2007). Fluoroquinolones in soil—risks and challenges. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 387(4), 1287-1299. doi:10.1007/s00216-006-0843-1
- Poole, K. (2012). Bacterial stress responses as determinants of antimicrobial resistance. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 67(9), 2069-2089. doi:10.1093/jac/dks196
- Qin, T.-T., Kang, H.-Q., Ma, P., Li, P.-P., Huang, L.-Y., & Gu, B. (2015). SOS response and its regulation on the fluoroquinolone resistance. *Annals of translational medicine*, 3(22), 358-358. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.12.09
- Redgrave, L. S., Sutton, S. B., Webber, M. A., & Piddock, L. J. (2014). Fluoroquinolone resistance: mechanisms, impact on bacteria, and role in evolutionary success. *Trends Microbiol*, 22(8), 438-445. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2014.04.007
- Robicsek, A., Jacoby, G. A., & Hooper, D. C. (2006). The worldwide emergence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance. *Lancet Infect Dis, 6*(10), 629-640. doi:10.1016/s1473-3099(06)70599-0
- Ruiz, J. (2003). Mechanisms of resistance to quinolones: target alterations, decreased accumulation and DNA gyrase protection. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 51(5), 1109-1117. doi:10.1093/jac/dkg222
- Samuels, A. N., Roggiani, M., Zhu, J., Goulian, M., Kohli, R. M., & Young, V. B. (2019). The SOS Response Mediates Sustained Colonization of the Mammalian Gut. *Infection and Immunity*, 87(2), e00711-00718. doi:doi:10.1128/IAI.00711-18
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. *Indian journal of dermatology*, 61(3), 261-264. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Slettemeås, J. S., Sunde, M., Ulstad, C. R., Norström, M., Wester, A. L., & Urdahl, A. M. (2019). Occurrence and characterization of quinolone resistant *Escherichia coli* from Norwegian turkey meat and complete sequence of an IncX1 plasmid encoding *qnr*S1. *PLOS ONE*, 14(3), e0212936. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0212936
- Strahilevitz, J., Jacoby, G. A., Hooper, D. C., & Robicsek, A. (2009). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance: a multifaceted threat. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 22(4), 664-689. doi:10.1128/cmr.00016-09
- Sugiyama, A. (2019). The soybean rhizosphere: Metabolites, microbes, and beyond—A review. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 19, 67-73. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2019.03.005
- Tamang, M. D., Nam, H. M., Chae, M. H., Kim, S. R., Gurung, M., Jang, G. C., Lim, S. K. (2012). Prevalence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants among *Escherichia coli* isolated from food animals in Korea. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 9(12), 1057-1063. doi:10.1089/fpd.2012.1225
- Tang, Y., Sahin, O., Pavlovic, N., LeJeune, J., Carlson, J., Wu, Z., . . . Zhang, Q. (2017). Rising fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter* isolated from feedlot cattle in the United States. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 494-494. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-00584-z
- Taylor, N. M., Clifton-Hadley, F. A., Wales, A. D., Ridley, A., & Davies, R. H. (2009). Farm-level risk factors for fluoroquinolone resistance in *E. coli* and thermophilic *Campylobacter spp.* on finisher pig farms. *Epidemiol Infect*, 137(8), 1121-1134. doi:10.1017/s0950268808001854
- Tchesnokova, V., Radey, M., Chattopadhyay, S., Larson, L., Weaver, J. L., Kisiela, D., & Sokurenko, E. V. (2019). Pandemic fluoroquinolone resistant *Escherichia coli* clone ST1193 emerged via simultaneous homologous recombinations in 11 gene loci. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(29), 14740-14748. doi:10.1073/pnas.1903002116
- Turnbaugh, P. J., Ridaura, V. K., Faith, J. J., Rey, F. E., Knight, R., & Gordon, J. I. (2009). The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: a metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice. *Sci Transl Med*, 1(6), 6ra14. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3000322
- Velhner, M., Todorović, D., Grego, E., Jovčić, B., Prunić, B., Stojanov, I., & Kehrenberg, C. (2018). Fluoroquinolone-resistant and extended-spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from free-living wild animals. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 223, 168-172. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.08.011
- Vik, J., Stræte, E. P., Hansen, B. G., & Nærland, T. (2019). The political robot The structural consequences of automated milking systems (AMS) in Norway. NJAS - Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences, 90-91, 100305. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.njas.2019.100305
- Volden, H. (2020, 11. desember). Kraftfördrevet vekst 80 prosent av avdråttsøkningen hos melkekyr har blitt dekket av mer kraftför i förrasjonen. *Nationen*. Retrieved from https://www.nationen.no/av/Harald%20Volden/
- Wallenbeck, A., Rousing, T., Sørensen, J. T., Bieber, A., Spengler Neff, A., Fuerst-Waltl, B., Ivemeyer, S. (2019). Characteristics of organic dairy major farm types in seven European countries. *Organic Agriculture*, 9(3), 275-291. doi:10.1007/s13165-018-0227-9
- Wang, L., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., & Wang, L. (2020). The Effects of Different Concentrate-to-Forage Ratio Diets on Rumen Bacterial Microbiota and the Structures of Holstein Cows During the Feeding Cycle. *Animals:* an open access journal from MDPI, 10(6), 957. doi:10.3390/ani10060957

- Wang, P., Zhang, X., wang, L., zhen, Z., Tang, M., & Li, J. (2010). Subinhibitory concentrations of ciprofloxacin induce SOS response and mutations of antibiotic resistance in bacteria. *Annals of Microbiology*, 60(3), 511-517. doi:10.1007/s13213-010-0080-x
- Wasyl, D., Hoszowski, A., Szulowski, K., & Zając, M. (2013). Antimicrobial resistance in commensal Escherichia coli isolated from animals at slaughter. Frontiers in Microbiology, 4. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2013.00221
- Watson, E., Jeckel, S., Snow, L., Stubbs, R., Teale, C., Wearing, H., Coldham, N. (2012). Epidemiology of extended spectrum beta-lactamase *E. coli* (CTX-M-15) on a commercial dairy farm. *Vet Microbiol*, 154(3-4), 339-346. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.07.020
- WHO, (2018). Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/312266/9789241515528-eng.pdf
- Wu, S., Fisher, J., Naciff, J., Laufersweiler, M., Lester, C., Daston, G., & Blackburn, K. (2013). Framework for Identifying Chemicals with Structural Features Associated with the Potential to Act as Developmental or Reproductive Toxicants. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 26(12), 1840-1861. doi:10.1021/tx400226u
- Xiong, W., Sun, Y., Ding, X., Wang, M., & Zeng, Z. (2015). Selective pressure of antibiotics on ARGs and bacterial communities in manure-polluted freshwater-sediment microcosms. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00194
- Yang F. (2018). Characteristics of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from bovine mastitis in China. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 101(7), P6244-6252.
- Yang, H., Chen, S., White, D. G., Zhao, S., McDermott, P., Walker, R., & Meng, J. (2004). Characterization of Multiple-Antimicrobial-Resistant *Escherichia coli* Isolates from Diseased Chickens and Swine in China. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(8), 3483-3489. doi:10.1128/JCM.42.8.3483-3489.2004
- Zeineldin, M., Aldridge, B., & Lowe, J. (2018). Dysbiosis of the fecal microbiota in feedlot cattle with hemorrhagic diarrhea. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 115, 123-130. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.12.059

Appendix I - Questionnaire

Spørreskjema til besetningsbesøk ved prøvetaking

Besetningsnr.	Navn:	Dato:
Generelt om gården		
	Besetningsstørrelse, antall årskyr	
	Økologisk / konvensjonell	
	Rase	
	Fjøssystem: båsfjøs, løsdrift med/uten robot	
Hygiene		
	Hygiene score (1-3)	
	Kvalitet på sluse for besøkende (1-4)	
	Vaskemidler	
	Fjøsvaskrutiner	
	Rengjøring av kalvebingene	
Fôring		
	Kraftfortype voksne	
	Kraftfortype kalver	
	Mineral/vitamintilskudd ja/nei	
	Ensileringsmiddel	



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet Noregs miljø- og biovitskapelege universitet Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås Norway